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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which involve substantial risks and uncertainties. These statements reflect the current views of our senior
management with respect to future events and our financial performance. These forward-looking statements include statements with respect to our business,
expenses, strategies, losses, growth plans, product and client initiatives, market growth projections, and our industry. Statements that include the words
“expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “project,” “forecast,” “estimate,” “may,” “should,” “anticipate” and similar statements of a future or forward-looking
nature identify forward-looking statements for purposes of the federal securities laws or otherwise.
Forward-looking statements address matters that involve risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, there are or will be important factors that could cause
our actual results to differ materially from those indicated in these statements. These factors include the information set forth under the caption “Risk Factors”
and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the following:
• our quarterly and annual results may fluctuate significantly, may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business and may result in
decreases in the price of our common stock;
• if we are unable to attract new clients or sell additional services and functionality to our existing clients, our revenue and revenue growth will be
harmed;
• our recent rapid growth may not be indicative of our future growth, and even if we continue to grow rapidly, we may fail to manage our growth
effectively;
• failure to adequately expand our sales force could impede our growth;
• if we fail to manage our technical operations infrastructure, our existing clients may experience service outages, our new clients may experience
delays in the deployment of our solution and we could be subject to, among other things, claims for credits or damages;
• security breaches and improper access to or disclosure of our data or our clients’ data or other cyber attacks on our systems, could result in litigation
and regulatory risk, harm our reputation and adversely affect our business;
• the markets in which we participate are highly competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our operating results could be harmed;
• if our existing clients terminate their subscriptions or reduce their subscriptions and related usage, our revenues and gross margins will be harmed
and we will be required to spend more money to grow our client base;
• our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties and our failure to successfully grow and manage these
relationships could harm our business;
• we are establishing a network of master agents and resellers to sell our solution; our failure to effectively develop, manage, and maintain this
network could materially harm our revenues;
• we sell our solution to larger organizations that require longer sales and implementation cycles and often demand more configuration and
integration services or customized features and functions that we may not offer, any of which could delay or prevent these sales and harm our growth
rates, business and operating results;
• because a significant percentage of our revenue is derived from existing clients, downturns or upturns in new sales will not be immediately reflected
in our operating results and may be difficult to discern;
• we rely on third-party telecommunications and internet service providers to provide our clients and their customers with telecommunication services
and connectivity to our cloud contact center software and any failure by these service providers to provide reliable services could subject us to,
among other things, claims for credits or damages;
• we have a history of losses and we may be unable to achieve or sustain profitability;
• we may not be able to secure additional financing on favorable terms, or at all, to meet our future capital needs; and
• failure to comply with laws and regulations could harm our business and our reputation.
The foregoing factors should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read together with the other cautionary statements included in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. If one or more of these or other risks or uncertainties materialize, or if our underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, our
actual results may differ
2
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materially from what we anticipate. You should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statements you read in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q reflect our views only as of the date of this report with respect to future events and are subject to these and other risks,
uncertainties and assumptions relating to our operations, results of operations, growth strategy and liquidity. We undertake no obligation to update any
forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10Q or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. Financial Statements
FIVE9, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share data)
September 30, 2017

December 31, 2016

(Unaudited)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable, net

63,364

$

17,231

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

58,122
13,881

4,809

3,008

Total current assets

85,404

75,011

Property and equipment, net

17,958

14,688

Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other assets

1,190

1,539

11,798

11,798

2,365
$

Total assets

2,203

118,715

$

105,239

4,787

$

3,366

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable

$

Accrued and other current liabilities

11,967

9,604

Accrued federal fees

1,146

2,742

Sales tax liability

1,174

1,347

Notes payable
Capital leases
Deferred revenue

486

742

6,057

6,230

13,699

10,047

Total current liabilities

39,316

34,078

Revolving line of credit

32,594

32,594

1,207

1,476

Sales tax liability — less current portion
Notes payable — less current portion

—

318

Capital leases — less current portion

6,867

5,915

Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

959

530

80,943

74,911

—

—

Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding at September 30,
2017 and December 31, 2016
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 450,000 shares authorized, 55,631 shares and 53,363 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

56

53

212,505

196,555

(174,789)

(166,280)

37,772
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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FIVE9, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(Unaudited, in thousands, except per share data)
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2017

Revenue

$

50,081

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2016

$

40,982

September 30, 2017

$

144,822

September 30, 2016

$

117,883

Cost of revenue

20,497

17,790

60,741

51,164

Gross profit

29,584

23,192

84,081

66,719

Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations

6,689

6,041

20,372

17,642

16,502

12,925

49,212

38,268

4,679

6,143

20,384

18,561

27,870

25,109

89,968

74,471

1,714

(1,917)

(5,887)

(7,752)

—

(1,026)

Other income (expense), net:
Extinguishment of debt
Interest expense
Interest income and other
Total other expense, net
Income (loss) before income taxes

(865)

(961)

118

12

—

(1,026)

(2,635)

(3,357)

326

(66)

(747)

(1,975)

(2,309)

(4,449)

967

(3,892)

(8,196)

(12,201)

43

(2)

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

142

68

$

924

$

(3,890)

$

(8,338)

$

(12,269)

Basic

$

0.02

$

(0.07)

$

(0.15)

$

(0.24)

Diluted

$

0.02

$

(0.07)

$

(0.15)

$

(0.24)

Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share:

Shares used in computing net income (loss) per share:
Basic

55,310

52,708

54,579

52,078

Diluted

59,441

52,708

54,579

52,078

Comprehensive Income (Loss):
Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss)

$

924

$

(3,890)

$

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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FIVE9, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited, in thousands)
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

$

(8,338)

$

(12,269)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

6,246

Provision for doubtful accounts
Stock-based compensation
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Reversal of interest and penalties on accrued federal fees

6,302

66

58

10,703

6,927

—

1,026

(2,133)

Non-cash adjustment on investment
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs
Accretion of interest

—

(233)

—

60

221

16

11

(50)

(9)

Accounts receivable

(3,406)

(2,383)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

(1,861)

(1,927)

Others
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Other assets

71

(25)

Accounts payable

1,409

1,039

Accrued and other current liabilities

1,774

2,749

Accrued federal fees and sales tax liability

95

Deferred revenue

(90)

3,676

Other liabilities

2,449

131

Net cash provided by operating activities

(75)

8,226

4,004

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment

(1,809)

Increase in restricted cash

(973)

—

Net cash used in investing activities

(60)

(1,809)

(1,033)

Proceeds from exercise of common stock options

3,280

4,050

Proceeds from sale of common stock under ESPP

1,800

792

—

32,594

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from revolving line of credit
Repayments on revolving line of credit
Repayments of notes payable
Payments of capital leases

—

(12,500)

(547)

(23,866)

(5,708)

(4,618)

Payment of prepayment penalty and related fees

—

Payments for debt issuance costs

—

Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(368)
(206)

(1,175)

(4,122)

5,242

(1,151)

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of period

58,122
$

End of period

6

63,364

58,484
$

57,333
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Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow data:
Cash paid for interest

$

Cash paid for income taxes

2,588

$

113

3,430
86

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Equipment obtained under capital lease

$

Equipment purchased and unpaid at period-end

7,482
22

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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FIVE9, INC.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Five9, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the “Company”) is a provider of cloud software for contact centers. The Company was incorporated in
Delaware in 2001 and is headquartered in San Ramon, California. The Company has offices in Europe and Asia, which primarily provide research,
development, sales, marketing, and client support services.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States (“GAAP”) and applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) regarding interim financial reporting.
Certain information and note disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted
pursuant to such rules and regulations. Therefore, these condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. In the opinion of
management, the condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, which are normal and recurring in nature, necessary for fair financial
statement presentation. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
Certain prior period amounts included in the condensed consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period
presentation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. The significant estimates made by management affect revenue, the
allowance for doubtful accounts, intangible assets, goodwill, loss contingencies, including the Company’s accrual for federal fees and sales tax liability,
accrued liabilities, stock-based compensation, provision for income taxes and uncertain tax positions. Management periodically evaluates such estimates and
they are adjusted prospectively based upon such periodic evaluation. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Significant Accounting Policies
The Company’s significant accounting policies are disclosed in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. During the
nine months ended September 30, 2017, there were no significant changes to the Company's significant accounting policies.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based
Payment Accounting. This ASU simplifies several aspects of the accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the accounting for income taxes,
forfeitures, and statutory tax withholding requirements, as well as classification in the statement of cash flows. The guidance was effective for the Company
beginning in the first quarter of 2017. Accordingly, commencing in January 2017, the Company accounted for forfeitures as they occurred, rather than by
estimating expected forfeitures. The net effect of this change was recognized as a $0.2 million reduction to accumulated deficit in the condensed
consolidated financial statements. Upon adoption of the new standard, all excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies (including tax benefits of dividends on
share-based payment awards) are recognized as income tax expense or benefit in the income statement. The tax effects of exercised or vested awards are
treated as discrete items in the reporting period in which they occur. The Company also recognizes excess tax benefits regardless of whether the benefit
reduces taxes payable in the current period. The Company has applied the modified retrospective adoption approach beginning January 1, 2017 and prior
periods have not been adjusted. As a result, the Company established a net operating loss deferred tax asset of $5.3 million to account for prior period excess
tax benefits through retained earnings, however an offsetting valuation allowance of $5.3 million was also established through retained earnings because it is
not more likely than not that
8
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the deferred tax asset will be realized due to historical and expected future losses, such that there is no impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated
financial statements.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Effective
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments, which requires measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for certain types of financial assets held. ASU 2016-13 is effective for the
Company in its first quarter of 2020, and earlier adoption is permitted beginning in the first quarter of 2019. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
of ASU 2016-13 on its consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). Under the new guidance, a lessee will be required to recognize assets and
liabilities for both finance, or capital, and operating leases with lease terms of more than 12 months. The ASU also will require disclosures to help investors
and other financial statement users better understand the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. Lessor accounting will remain
largely unchanged from current GAAP. In transition, lessees and lessors are required to recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest period
presented using a modified retrospective approach that includes a number of optional practical expedients that entities may elect to apply. This guidance is
effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2019. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the effect the guidance will
have on its consolidated financial statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Topic 606 and issued subsequent amendments to the
initial guidance in August 2015, March 2016, April 2016 and May 2016 within ASU 2015-04, ASU 2016-08, ASU 2016-10 and ASU 2016-12, respectively
(ASU 2014-09, ASU 2015-04, ASU 2016-08, ASU 2016-10 and ASU 2016-12 collectively, Topic 606). Topic 606 requires an entity to recognize the amount
of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers and will replace most existing revenue recognition
guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. Topic 606 defines a five-step process to achieve this core principle and, in doing so, it is possible more
judgment and estimates may be required within the revenue recognition process than are required under existing GAAP. Topic 606 is effective for the
Company's annual and interim reporting periods beginning January 1, 2018 using either a retrospective or a cumulative effect transition method. The
Company has developed an implementation plan to adopt this new guidance based on the cumulative effect transition method. As part of this plan, the
Company is currently assessing the impact of the new guidance on its results of operations. Based on procedures performed to date, the Company does not
believe the adoption of Topic 606 will have a material impact on the timing of revenue, but the adoption will have a material impact on commission expense.
The Company will continue to evaluate this assessment in 2017. The Company intends to adopt Topic 606 on January 1, 2018.
2. Fair Value Measurements
The Company carries cash equivalents consisting of money market funds at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value is based on the price that would
be received from selling an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is estimated by applying the
following hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and bases the categorization within the hierarchy upon the
lowest level of input that is available and significant to the fair value measurement:
Level 1 — Observable inputs which include unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.
Level 2 — Observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs, such as quoted prices for similar assets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets in inactive
markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the asset.
Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are based on management’s assumptions, including fair value
measurements determined by using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies or similar techniques.
9
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The fair value of assets carried at fair value was determined using the following inputs (in thousands):
September 30, 2017
Total

Assets
Cash equivalents
Money market funds
Other Assets
Embedded conversion option held for investment

Level 1

Level 3

$

20,060

$

20,060 $

—

$

946

$

— $

946

December 31, 2016
Total

Assets
Cash equivalents
Money market funds
Other Assets
Embedded conversion option held for investment

Level 1

Level 3

$

20,069

$

20,069 $

—

$

873

$

— $

873

Fair Value Measured and Recorded Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3) (in thousands):
September 30, 2017

Beginning balance
Total gains included in earnings
Ending balance

$

873
73

$

946

The valuation of an embedded conversion option held for investment with a convertible note was performed using a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model which relies primarily on estimates of expected term, volatility, risk-free rate, and dividends related to our investment in a privately-held company, or
the investee. The most significant unobservable inputs used in the determination of estimated fair value of the option are the estimates of share price and
volatility, driven by the investee's ability to meet financial targets, and which directly correlates to the fair value recognized in other non-current assets
within the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
The fair value of this asset is estimated quarterly by management based on inputs received from the investee's management using the excess earnings
method under the income approach. Potential valuation adjustments are made as the progress toward achieving financial targets becomes determinable, with
the impact of such adjustments being recorded to 'Interest income and other' in our condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, there were no transfers in or out of Level 3 from other levels in the fair value hierarchy.
There were no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as of September 30, 2017.
3. Financial Statement Components
Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2017

Cash
Money market funds
Cash and cash equivalents
10

December 31,
2016

$

43,304
20,060

$

38,053
20,069

$

63,364

$

58,122
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Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2017

Trade accounts receivable
Unbilled trade accounts receivable, net of advance client deposits
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable, net

December 31,
2016

$

16,096
1,152
(17)

$

12,640
1,253
(12)

$

17,231

$

13,881

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2017

Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

December 31,
2016

$

3,034
1,775

$

2,199
809

$

4,809

$

3,008

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2017

Computer and network equipment
Computer software
Internal-use software development costs
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

$

Property and equipment
Accumulated depreciation and amortization

44,517
6,383
500
1,223
641

December 31,
2016

$

53,264
(35,306)
$

Property and equipment, net

17,958

37,664
5,133
475
1,130
624
45,026
(30,338)

$

14,688

In accordance with our property and equipment policy, we review the estimated useful lives of our fixed assets on an ongoing basis. A review of our
existing estimates indicated that the actual lives of certain data center assets were longer than previously estimated useful lives used for depreciation
purposes in our financial statements. As a result, effective July 1, 2017, we changed the estimated useful lives of certain data center assets to better reflect the
estimated periods during which these assets will remain in service. The estimated useful lives of these assets, which we previously depreciated for three years,
have now been increased to a range of three to five years. This change in accounting estimate decreased depreciation expense by $0.8 million for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2017, increased both basic and diluted net income per share by $0.02 for the three months ended September 30, 2017,
and decreased both basic and diluted net loss per share by $0.02 for the nine months ended September 30, 2017.
Depreciation and amortization expense associated with property and equipment was $1.8 million and $5.9 million for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2017, respectively, and $2.0 million and $5.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively.
Property and equipment capitalized under capital lease obligations consist primarily of computer and network equipment and was as follows (in
thousands):
September 30,
2017

Gross
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total
11

December 31,
2016

$

44,471
(29,072)

$

35,504
(23,128)

$

15,399

$

12,376
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Accrued and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2017

Accrued compensation and benefits
Accrued expenses
Accrued and other current liabilities

December 31,
2016

$

9,669
2,298

$

7,456
2,148

$

11,967

$

9,604

4. Intangible Assets
The components of intangible assets were as follows (in thousands):
September 30, 2017
Gross Carrying
Amount

Developed technology
Customer relationships
Domain names
Non-compete agreements

$

$

Total

December 31, 2016

Accumulated
Amortization

2,460
520
50
140

$

3,170

$

Net Carrying
Amount

(1,390)
(411)
(39)
(140)

$

(1,980)

$

1,070
109
11

Gross Carrying
Amount

$

—

1,190

$

Accumulated
Amortization

2,460
520
50
140

$

3,170

$

Net Carrying
Amount

(1,126)
(333)
(32)
(140)

$

(1,631)

$

1,334
187
18
—

1,539

Amortization expense related to intangible assets was $0.1 million and $0.3 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017,
respectively, and $0.1 million and $0.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively.
As of September 30, 2017, the expected future amortization expense for intangible assets was as follows (in thousands):
Expected Future Amortization
Expense

Period

2017
2018
2019
2020
Total

$

117
442
351
280

$

1,190

5. Debt
2016 Loan and Security Agreement
On August 1, 2016, or the Effective Date, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement, or the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement, with the
lenders party thereto and City National Bank, as agent for such lenders. The 2016 Loan and Security Agreement provides for a revolving line of credit, or the
New Revolving Credit Facility, of up to $50.0 million and matures on August 1, 2019. On the Effective Date, the Company borrowed $32.6 million under the
2016 Loan and Security Agreement. The proceeds were used to extinguish existing indebtedness under all prior Loan and Security Agreements and for
working capital and other general corporate purposes.
Loans under the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement bear a variable annual interest rate of the prime rate plus 0.50%, subject to a 0.25% increase if the
Company's adjusted EBITDA is negative at the end of any fiscal quarter. The Company has agreed to pay a fee of 0.25% per annum on the unused portion of
the New Revolving Credit Facility as well as an anniversary fee of $31,250 on each of the first and second anniversaries of the Effective Date. The Company
is accreting the total estimation of unused fees and anniversary fees evenly over the full term of the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement. Under the terms of
the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement, the outstanding balance cannot exceed the Company’s trailing four months of MRR (monthly recurring revenue
including subscription and usage) multiplied by the average trailing 12 month dollar based retention rate (calculated on the same basis as in the Company’s
periodic reports filed with the SEC). As of September 30, 2017, the outstanding
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principal balance under the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement was $32.6 million, which is included in 'Revolving line of credit' in the condensed
consolidated balance sheets. As of September 30, 2017, the amount available for additional borrowings was $17.4 million.
The Company incurred approximately $0.2 million in fees that were directly attributable to the issuance of this credit facility. These costs are deferred
and included within 'Prepaid expenses and other current assets' and 'Other assets' in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets and being
amortized to interest expense on a straight-line basis over three years starting from the Effective Date of the New Revolving Credit Facility.
The obligations of the Company under the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement are guaranteed by the Company’s subsidiary, Five9 Acquisition. The
Company’s obligations under the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement and Five9 Acquisition’s obligations under its guaranty are secured by a first priority
perfected security interest in and lien on substantially all of the Company’s and Five9 Acquisition's assets. The 2016 Loan and Security Agreement contains
certain customary covenants, including the requirement that the Company maintain $25.0 million of unrestricted cash deposited with the lenders for the term
of the agreement, a minimum liquidity ratio of unrestricted cash and accounts receivable to the outstanding amounts under the 2016 Loan and Security
Agreement, as well as customary events of default. Under the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement, the Company is also prohibited from declaring dividends
or making other distributions on capital stock. The Company was in compliance with these covenants as of September 30, 2017.
The Company recorded a $1.0 million loss on extinguishment of debt in the third quarter of 2016 under the 2013 Loan and Security Agreement and
the 2014 Loan and Security Agreement (each as described below). The loss was comprised of $0.4 million in prepayment penalties, a $0.4 million write-off of
unamortized debt discounts, and a $0.2 million write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs.
2013 Loan and Security Agreement
Prior to entering into the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement on August 1, 2016, the Company had a revolving line of credit of up to $20.0 million, or
the Prior Revolving Credit Facility, under a loan and security agreement with a lender, which was entered into in March 2013 and last amended in December
2014, or the 2013 Loan and Security Agreement. The Prior Revolving Credit Facility carried a variable annual interest rate of the prime rate plus 0.50% and
would have matured on December 1, 2016.
The 2013 Loan and Security Agreement was collateralized by substantially all the assets of the Company. The balance outstanding could not exceed
the lesser of (i) $20.0 million or (ii) an amount equal to the Company’s monthly recurring revenue for the three months prior multiplied by the average
Dollar-Based Retention Rate over the prior twelve months, less the amount accrued for the Company’s Universal Service Fund (“USF”) obligation (accrued
federal fees). As of August 1, 2016, the Company had canceled and paid back all amounts due under the Prior Revolving Credit Facility.
In connection with its acquisition of SoCoCare in October 2013, the Company also borrowed $5.0 million under a term loan, or the Term Loan, under
the 2013 Loan and Security Agreement in October 2013. Monthly interest-only payments were due on the advance at the prime rate plus 1.50% through
September 2014. Principal and interest payments were due in equal monthly installments from October 2014 through the maturity of the Term Loan in March
2017. As of August 1, 2016, the Company had canceled and paid back all amounts due under the Term Loan.
The 2013 Loan and Security Agreement contained certain covenants, including the requirement that the Company maintain $7.5 million of cash
deposited with the lender for the term of the 2013 Loan and Security Agreement. The Company was in compliance with these covenants through the
cancellation date of August 1, 2016. The 2013 Loan and Security Agreement remained senior to other debt, including the debt issued under the 2014 Loan
and Security Agreement discussed below.
2014 Loan and Security Agreement
Prior to entering into the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement on August 1, 2016, the Company had a term loan facility of $30.0 million with a
syndicate of two lenders, or Lenders, which was entered into in February 2014 and amended in December 2014 and February 2015, or the 2014 Loan and
Security Agreement. The term loan facility was available to the Company in tranches. The first tranche for $20.0 million was advanced upon entering into the
agreement. The remaining $10.0 million was available for drawdown by the Company until February 20, 2016 in $1.0 million increments, which expired on
February 20, 2016. The Company incurred $0.4 million in debt costs in connection with borrowing the first tranche in February 2014. The term loan bore
interest at a variable per annum
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rate equal to the greater of 10% or LIBOR plus 9%. Interest was due and payable on the last business day of each month during the term of the loan
commencing in February 2014. Monthly principal payments were due beginning in February 2016 based on 1/60th of the outstanding balance at that time
and would continue until all remaining principal outstanding under the term loan became due and payable in February 2019. As of August 1, 2016, the
Company had canceled and paid back all borrowings under the 2014 Loan and Security Agreement.
The term loan was secured by substantially all the assets of the Company and was subordinate to the 2013 Loan and Security Agreement. The 2014
Loan and Security Agreement contained certain covenants and included the occurrence of a material adverse event, as defined in the agreement and
determined by the Lenders, as an event of default. The Company was in compliance with these covenants through the effective cancellation date of August 1,
2016.
In connection with entering into the 2014 Loan and Security Agreement, the Company issued to the Lenders warrants to purchase 177,865 shares of
common stock at $10.12 per share, which vest and become exercisable over a ten year term from the date of issuance, based on amounts drawn under
the $30.0 million term loan facility. Based on the drawdown of $20.0 million in February 2014, 118,577 shares of common stock issuable under the warrants
vested and are exercisable by the Lenders. The fair value of these vested warrants of $1.0 million was recorded as a discount against the debt proceeds and
was being recognized as additional interest expense over the term of the loan. The remaining 59,288 shares of common stock issuable under the warrants
pertaining to the undrawn $10.0 million did not vest and were no longer exercisable on February 20, 2016 when the $10.0 million was no longer available
for borrowing.
Promissory Note
In July 2013, the Company issued a promissory note to the Universal Service Administrative Company, or USAC, for $4.1 million in principal amount
as a financing arrangement for that amount of accrued federal fees. The promissory note carried a fixed annual interest rate of 12.75% and was repayable in 42
equal monthly installments of principal and interest beginning in August 2013. As of December 31, 2016, approximately $0.1 million of this promissory note
was outstanding and is included as notes payable in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. This promissory note was fully paid as of
January 2017.
FCC Civil Penalty
In June 2015, the Company entered into a consent decree with the Federal Communications Commission, or FCC, Enforcement Bureau, in which the
Company agreed to pay a civil penalty of $2.0 million to the U.S. Treasury in twelve equal quarterly installments starting in July 2015 without interest. As a
result, the Company discounted the $2.0 million liability, which was accrued in the third quarter of 2014 for the then tentative civil penalty, to its present
value of $1.7 million at an annual interest rate of 12.75% to reflect the imputed interest and reclassified this discounted liability from 'Accrued federal fees' to
'Notes payable.' The $0.3 million discount was recorded as a reduction to general and administrative expense in the three months ended June 30, 2015 and is
being recognized as interest expense over the payment term of the civil penalty. As of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the outstanding civil
penalty payable was $0.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively, of which the net carrying value was $0.5 million and $0.9 million, respectively, and is
included as 'Notes payable' in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.
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As of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Company’s outstanding debt is summarized as follows (in thousands):
September 30, 2017

Promissory note to USAC
FCC civil penalty

$

Total notes payable, gross
Less: discount

—
500

December 31, 2016

$

120
1,000

500
(18)

Total notes payable, net carrying value
Revolving line of credit
Interest accretion under 2016 line of credit

1,120
(79)

482
32,594
4

Total debt, net carrying value
Less: current portion of debt *
Total debt, less current portion **

1,041
32,594
19

$

33,080

$

33,654

$
$

(486)
32,594

$
$

(742)
32,912

* Included in ‘Notes payable’ in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
** Included in ‘Notes payable - less current portion’ and 'Revolving line of credit — less current portion' in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
Maturities of the Company’s outstanding debt as of September 30, 2017 are as follows (in thousands):
Period

Amount to Mature

2017
2018
2019
Total

$

167
333
32,594

$

33,094

6. Stockholders’ Equity
Capital Structure
The Company is authorized to issue 450,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.001 per share. As of September 30, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, the Company had 55,631,423 and 53,363,013 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, respectively.
The Company is also authorized to designate and issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.001 per share in one or more
series without stockholder approval and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions thereof. As of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016,
the Company had no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.
Warrants
As of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Company had outstanding warrants to purchase 13,013 and 131,597 shares of common stock,
respectively, with a weighted-average exercise price of $5.76 per share and $9.80 per share, respectively. The warrants outstanding as of September 30, 2017
will expire on October 18, 2023.
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Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance
Shares of common stock reserved for future issuance related to outstanding equity awards, common stock warrants, and employee equity incentive
plans were as follows (in thousands):
September 30, 2017

Stock options outstanding
Restricted stock units outstanding
Shares available for future grant under 2014 Plan
Shares available for future issuance under ESPP
Common stock warrants outstanding

4,597
2,133
7,526
1,495
13

Total shares of common stock reserved

15,764

Equity Incentive Plans
Prior to its initial public offering (“IPO”), the Company granted stock options under its Amended and Restated 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended
(the “2004 Plan”).
In March 2014, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders approved the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (“2014 Plan”) and 5,300,000 shares of
common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan. In addition, on the first day of each year beginning in 2015 and ending in 2024, the 2014 Plan
provides for an annual automatic increase to the shares reserved for issuance in an amount equal to 5% of the total number of shares outstanding on December
31st of the preceding calendar year or a lesser number as determined by the Company’s board of directors. Pursuant to the automatic annual
increase, 2,668,150 and 2,558,231 additional shares were reserved under the 2014 Plan on January 1, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
No further grants were made under the 2004 Plan once the 2014 Plan became effective on April 3, 2014. Upon the effectiveness of the 2014 Plan, all
shares reserved for future issuance under the 2004 Plan became available for issuance under the 2014 Plan. After the IPO, any forfeited or expired shares that
would have otherwise returned to the 2004 Plan instead return to the 2014 Plan.
The 2004 Plan and the 2014 Plan are described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Stock Options
A summary of the Company’s stock option activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 is as follows (in thousands, except years and per
share data):

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number of
Shares

Outstanding as of December 31, 2016
Options granted (weighted average grant date fair value of $8.20
per share)
Options exercised
Options forfeited or expired

5,556

$

511
(1,336)
(134)
4,597

Outstanding as of September 30, 2017

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life
(Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

5.23
16.83
2.46
12.64

$

7.10

6.3

$

77,235

The Company has computed the aggregate intrinsic value amounts disclosed in the above table based on the difference between the exercise price of
the options and the closing market price of the Company’s common stock of $23.90 per share as of September 30, 2017 for all in-the-money options
outstanding.
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Restricted Stock Units
A summary of the Company's restricted stock unit ("RSU") activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 is as follows (in thousands,
except per share data):
Weighted Average Grant
Date Fair Value Per Share

Number of Shares

Outstanding as of December 31, 2016
RSUs granted
RSUs vested and released
RSUs forfeited

2,019
1,022
(745)
(163)

$

7.65
17.31
8.68
10.92

Outstanding as of September 30, 2017

2,133

$

11.62

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company's 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP") became effective on April 3, 2014 and is described in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. The number of shares of common stock originally reserved for issuance under the ESPP was 880,000
shares, which will increase automatically each year, beginning on January 1, 2015 and continuing through January 1, 2024, by the lesser of (i) 1% of the total
number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year; (ii) 1,000,000 shares of common stock
(subject to adjustment to reflect any split or combination of the Company’s common stock); or (iii) such lesser number as determined by the Company’s
board of directors. Pursuant to the automatic annual increase, 533,630 and 511,646 additional shares were reserved under the ESPP on January 1, 2017 and
2016, respectively.
One purchase event occurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 as follows: 141,222 shares were purchased on May 15, 2017 at a price
of $12.75 per share under the ESPP.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 were as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2017

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2016

September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative

$

599
797
1,084
1,240

$

357
547
626
989

$

1,608
2,235
3,236
3,624

$

951
1,510
1,604
2,862

Total stock-based compensation

$

3,720

$

2,519

$

10,703

$

6,927

As of September 30, 2017, unrecognized stock-based compensation expenses by award type and their expected weighted-average recognition periods
are summarized in the following table (in thousands, except years).
Stock Option

Unrecognized stock-based compensation expense
Weighted-average amortization period

$

6,461
2.8 years

RSU

$

23,056
2.9 years

ESPP

$

181
0.1 years

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense that is calculated based upon awards that have vested, reduced for actual forfeitures. All
stock-based compensation for equity awards granted to employees and non-employee directors is measured based on the grant date fair value of the award.
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The Company values RSUs at the closing market price of its common stock on the date of grant. The Company estimates the fair value of each stock
option and purchase right under the ESPP granted to employees on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and using the
assumptions noted in the below table. The weighted-average assumptions used to value stock options granted during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
Stock Options

Expected term (years)
Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

6.1
53%
2.0%
—

6.1
48%
1.2%
—

6.2
49%
2.0%
—

6.0
48%
1.5%
—

7. Net Income (Loss) Per Share
Basic net income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
period, and excludes any dilutive effects of employee stock-based awards and warrants. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed giving effect to all
potentially dilutive common shares, including common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options and warrants and vesting of restricted stock units.
The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share (in thousands, except per share data).
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2017

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2016

September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

Net income (loss)
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding

$

924
55,310

$

(3,890)
52,708

$

(8,338)
54,579

$

(12,269)
52,078

Basic net income (loss) per share

$

0.02

$

(0.07)

$

(0.15)

$

(0.24)

Net income (loss)
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding
Effect of dilutive shares

$

924
55,310
4,131

$

(3,890)
52,708
—

$

(8,338)
54,579
—

$

(12,269)
52,078
—

Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding
Diluted net income (loss) per share

59,441
$

0.02

52,708
$

(0.07)

54,579
$

(0.15)

52,078
$

(0.24)

The following securities were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income (loss) per share because their effect would have been anti-dilutive (in
thousands).
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2017

Stock options
Restricted stock units
Common stock warrants
Total

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2016

September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

471
29
—

5,626
2,096
132

4,597
2,133
13

5,626
2,096
132

500

7,854

6,743

7,854

8. Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 was approximately $43 thousand and $142 thousand,
respectively. The provision for/(benefit from) income taxes for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was approximately $(2)
thousand and $68 thousand, respectively. The provision for income taxes consisted primarily of foreign income taxes.
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For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, the provision for income taxes differed from the statutory amount primarily due to
the Company realizing no benefit for current year losses due to maintaining a full valuation allowance against its domestic net deferred tax assets.
The realization of tax benefits of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future levels of taxable income, of an appropriate character, in the periods the
items are expected to be deductible or taxable. Based on the available objective evidence, the Company does not believe it is more likely than not that the
net deferred tax assets will be realizable. Accordingly, the Company has provided a full valuation allowance against the domestic net deferred tax assets as of
September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016. The Company intends to maintain the remaining valuation allowance until sufficient positive evidence exists
to support a reversal of, or decrease in, the valuation allowance. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, there were no material changes
to the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits.
9. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
The Company’s principal commitments consist of future payment obligations under capital leases to finance data centers and other computer and
networking equipment purchases, debt agreements (see Note 5), operating lease agreements for office space, research and development, and sales and
marketing facilities, and agreements with third parties to provide co-location hosting, telecommunication usage and equipment maintenance services. These
commitments as of December 31, 2016 are disclosed in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, and did not
change materially during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 except for the acquisition of certain additional data center and network equipment and
software under multiple capital leases, and certain hosting and telecommunications agreements. As of September 30, 2017, the total minimum future payment
commitments under these capital leases added during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 were approximately $7.5 million, of which $0.7 million is
due during the remainder of 2017, with the remainder of $6.8 million due over approximately 35 months. The Company entered into various hosting and
telecommunications agreements for terms of 11 to 36 months commencing on various dates in the first three quarters of 2017. These agreements require the
Company to make monthly payments over the service term in exchange for certain network services. The Company's total minimum future payment
commitments under these agreements are $4.3 million.
Universal Services Fund Liability
During the third quarter of 2012, the Company determined that based on its business activities, it is classified as a telecommunications service
provider for regulatory purposes and it should make direct contributions to the federal USF and related funds based on revenues it receives from the resale of
interstate and international telecommunications services. In order to comply with the obligation to make direct contributions, the Company made a voluntary
self-disclosure to the FCC Enforcement Bureau and registered with the USAC, which is charged by the FCC with administering the USF. The Company filed
exemption certificates with its wholesale telecommunications service providers in order to eliminate its obligation to reimburse such wholesale
telecommunications service providers for their USF contributions calculated on services sold to the Company. In April 2013, the Company began remitting
required contributions on a prospective basis directly to USAC.
The Company’s registration with USAC subjects it to assessments for unpaid USF contributions, as well as interest thereon and civil penalties, due to
its late registration and past failure to recognize its obligation as a USF contributor and as an international carrier. The Company is required to pay
assessments for periods prior to the Company’s registration. As of December 31, 2012, the total past due USF contribution being imposed by USAC and
accrued by the Company for the period from 2003 through 2012 was $8.1 million, of which $4.7 million was undisputed and $3.4 million was disputed. The
Company subsequently updated its filings and increased the liability related to 2008 through 2012 by $0.5 million, arriving at a new total of $3.9 million in
disputed liability. In July 2013, the Company and USAC agreed to a financing arrangement for $4.1 million of the undisputed $4.7 million of the unpaid
USF contributions whereby the Company issued to USAC a promissory note payable in the principal amount of the $4.1 million and paid off the remaining
undisputed $0.6 million. The Company had fully paid the promissory note as of January 2017.
In January 2017, the FCC’s Wireline Competition Bureau ruled in the Company's favor with respect to most of the disputed amount. In September
2017, USAC issued a credit to the Company reflecting the FCC's ruling for the $3.1 million of the $3.9 million in disputed liability. In addition, USAC
reversed the interest and penalties related to the disputed liability of $3.1 million. The remaining $0.8 million in dispute involves USAC’s assessment
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of liability for the period of 2003 through 2007, which was prior to the five year window during which the Company was required to maintain financial
records for USF contribution purposes. The Company filed a Request for Review (a form of appeal) of this disputed amount with the FCC's Wireline
Competition Bureau in 2013, which remains pending. If the Request for Review is not resolved in the Company’s favor, it is possible that the Company will
be held to the back assessments of $0.8 million, which includes interest and penalties on that amount.
As of September 30, 2017, the accrued liability on the remaining disputed assessments, including interest and penalties for the period of 2003 through
2007, was $0.8 million offset by $0.7 million in other USF credits.
State and Local Taxes and Surcharges
In April 2012, the Company commenced collecting and remitting sales taxes on sales of subscription services in all the U.S. states in which it
determined it was obligated to do so. During the first quarter of 2015, the Company conducted an updated sales tax review of the taxability of sales of its
subscription services. As a result, the Company determined that it may be obligated to collect and remit sales taxes on such sales in four additional states.
Based on its best estimate of the probable sales tax liability in those four states relating to its sales of subscription services during the period 2011 through
2014, during the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company recorded a general and administrative expense of $0.6 million to accrue for such taxes.
During 2013, the Company analyzed its activities and determined it may be obligated to collect and remit various state and local taxes and surcharges
on its usage-based fees. The Company had not remitted state and local taxes on usage-based fees in any of the periods prior to 2014 and therefore accrued a
sales tax liability for this contingency. In January 2014, the Company commenced paying such taxes and surcharges to certain state authorities. In June 2014,
the Company commenced collecting state and local taxes or surcharges on usage-based fees from its clients on a current basis and remitting such taxes to the
applicable U.S. state taxing authorities.
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, the Company made no payments for its contingent sales taxes on either usage-based fees
or sales of subscription services. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company remitted $0.5 thousand and $0.1 million,
respectively, for its contingent sales taxes on both usage-based fees and sales of subscription services. For the three and nine months ended September 30,
2017, the Company recognized a gain of $0.2 million and $0.5 million, respectively, as an offset to general and administrative expense related to its
estimated sales tax liability on both usage-based fees and sales of subscription services in the U.S. and Canada. For the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016, the Company recognized a gain of $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively, as an offset to general and administrative expense related
to its estimated sales tax liability on both usage-based fees and sales of subscription services in the U.S. and Canada, which was not being collected from its
clients.
As of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Company had total accrued liabilities of $1.6 million and $2.1 million, respectively, for such
contingent sales taxes and surcharges that were not being collected from its clients but may be imposed by various taxing authorities, of which $0.5 million
and $0.6 million, respectively, were included in current “Sales tax liability” on the condensed consolidated balance sheets, and the remaining were included
in non-current “Sales tax liability” on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s estimate of the probable loss incurred under this
contingency is based on its analysis of the source location of its usage-based fees and the regulations and rules in each tax jurisdiction.
Legal Matters
The Company is involved in various legal and regulatory matters arising in the normal course of business. In management’s opinion, resolution of these
matters is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated results of operations, cash flows, or its financial position. However, due to
the uncertain nature of legal matters, an unfavorable resolution of a matter could materially affect the Company’s future consolidated results of operations,
cash flows or financial position in a particular period. The Company expenses legal fees as incurred.
The Company is currently involved in the following lawsuits as a defendant.
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Melcher Litigation
On September 28, 2016, a complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California against Five9, Inc., or Five9, as
the successor in interest to Face It, Corp., or Face It, and Lance Fried, a former Five9 employee who was the former Chief Executive Officer of Face It. The
action, captioned Melcher, et al. v. Five9, Inc., et al., No. 16-cv-02440, or the Melcher Litigation, was filed as a direct action by Carl Melcher, or Melcher, a
purported former stockholder of Face It, and his related investment entity Melcher Family Limited Partnership, or MFLP.
In the complaint, the plaintiffs alleged that Face It repurchased the plaintiffs’ stock in September 2013 before Five9 acquired Face It, and that in
connection with the repurchase, Fried made material misstatements or omissions to Melcher, by failing to disclose that Face It allegedly was in concurrent
discussions about a potential sale of the company to Five9. The complaint alleged violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, as well as various claims under state law and common law. The complaint sought to set aside Face It’s
September 2013 stock repurchase from the plaintiffs, as well as an unspecified amount of damages and an award of attorney’s fees and costs, in addition to
other relief.
On November 8, 2016, the court entered an order staying the lawsuit and ordered the parties to proceed to arbitration of the dispute before the
American Arbitration Association, or AAA. On November 16, 2016, Melcher and MFLP submitted a Demand for Arbitration to AAA against Five9, asserting
claims identical to those alleged in the lawsuit.
On March 31, 2017, Five9 reached a settlement with the plaintiffs that fully resolved the plaintiffs’ claims against Five9 and provided for mutual
releases between the plaintiffs and Five9 in exchange for a one-time payment by Five9 to the plaintiffs of $1.7 million. As a result of the settlement, the AAA
arbitration was concluded, and on July 10, 2017 the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint in the Melcher Litigation solely against Fried, removing Five9 as a
defendant.
NobelBiz Litigation
On August 5, 2011, NobelBiz sent a letter to the Company asserting infringement of a patent related to virtual call centers. On April 3, 2012, NobelBiz
filed a patent infringement lawsuit against the Company in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas. The patent asserted in the
complaint is different, but related, to the patent asserted in the original letter. The lawsuit, NobelBiz Inc. v. Five9, Inc., Case No. 6:12-cv-00243-LED, alleges
that the Company’s local caller ID management service infringes United States Patent No. 8135122, or the ‘122 patent. The ‘122 patent, titled “System and
Method for Modifying Communication Information (MCI),” issued on March 13, 2012, and according to the complaint is alleged to relate to “a system for
processing a telephone call from a call originator (also referred to as a calling party) to a call target (also referred to as a receiving party), where the system
accesses a database storing outgoing telephone numbers, selects a replacement telephone number from the outgoing telephone numbers based on the
telephone number of the call target, and originates an outbound call to the call target with a modified outgoing caller identification (‘caller ID’).” NobelBiz
seeks damages in the form of lost profits as well as injunctive relief. The lawsuit is one of several lawsuits filed by NobelBiz against various companies
including TCN Inc., LiveVox, Inc. and Global Connect LLC. On March 28, 2013, the court granted the Company’s motion to transfer the case to the United
States District Court for the Northern District of California. Subsequently, NobelBiz amended its complaint to add claims related to U.S. Patent No. 8565399,
or the ‘399 patent, which is a continuation in the same family as the ‘122 patent and addresses the same technology. The Company responded to the
complaint and amended complaint by asserting noninfringement and invalidity of the ‘122 and ‘399 patents. On January 16, 2015, the court issued an order
regarding claim construction of the two patents-in-suit. On March 7, 2016, the court stayed the case pending an appeal in lawsuits involving NobelBiz,
Global Connect and TCN that also involve the ‘122 and ‘399 patents. On July 19, 2017, the Federal Circuit Court of Appeal issued a ruling confirming the
claim construction in Five9’s lawsuit and resolving the appeal in favor of Global Connect and TCN and against NobelBiz. Subsequently, the district court set
a new schedule for the litigation in light of this ruling with motions for summary judgment set to occur in 2018.
The Company has investigated the claims alleged in the complaint and believes that it has good defenses to the claims. While the Company does not
believe that it is probable that a loss has been incurred, the ultimate resolution of the matter could potentially result in a loss. Management’s best estimate of
the low end of the range of the potential loss is zero. At this time, it is not possible to reasonably estimate the high end of the range of the potential loss,
which could be material to the Company’s results of operations. Accordingly, the Company has not accrued a loss related to this matter.
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Indemnification Agreements
In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into agreements of varying scope and terms pursuant to which it agrees to indemnify clients,
vendors, lessors, business partners and other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited to, losses arising out of breach of such
agreements, services to be provided by the Company or from intellectual property infringement claims made by third parties. In addition, the Company has
entered into indemnification agreements with directors and certain officers and employees that will require it, among other things, to indemnify them against
certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors, officers or employees. Other than as described below, no demands have been
made upon the Company to provide indemnification under such agreements and there are no claims that it is aware of that could have a material effect on the
consolidated balance sheet, consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss, or consolidated statements of cash flows. On October 27, 2016, the
Company received notice from Lance Fried, a former officer and director of Face It, of his claim for indemnification by the Company (as successor in interest
to Face It), and for advancement of all legal fees and expenses he incurs in connection with the defense of the Melcher Litigation. See "Legal Matters" above.
As of May 31, 2017, the Company had advanced Mr. Fried $62 thousand in connection with this claim; however, the Company disputes that Mr. Fried is
entitled to advancement in connection with the Melcher Litigation. On July 31, 2017, Mr. Fried filed a complaint against the Company in the Court of
Chancery for the State of Delaware, in which he alleges that the Company breached advancement obligations to him. In the lawsuit, Mr. Fried seeks
advancement of his legal fees and expenses in connection with the defense of the Melcher Litigation, payment of his legal fees and expenses incurred in
connection with his advancement action, and interest. The Company believes the action is without merit and is defending it vigorously. Regardless of the
outcome of Mr. Fried’s advancement lawsuit against the Company, Mr. Fried is required to reimburse the Company for any amounts advanced to him if it is
ultimately determined that Mr. Fried is not entitled to indemnification in connection with the Melcher Litigation. In addition, the Company believes that it
has indemnification rights against the former stockholders of Face It (including Mr. Fried) for all losses that are incurred by the Company in connection with
the Melcher Litigation, including without limitation, amounts incurred to indemnify or advance the legal fees and expenses of Mr. Fried pursuant to his
indemnification claim against the Company.
10. Geographical Information
The following table is a summary of revenues by geographic region based on client billing address and has been estimated based on the amounts billed
to clients during the periods presented (in thousands).
Three Months Ended

United States
International
Total revenue

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

$

46,897
3,184

$

38,251
2,731

$

136,085
8,737

$

109,948
7,935

$

50,081

$

40,982

$

144,822

$

117,883

The following table summarizes total property and equipment, net in the respective locations (in thousands).
December 31,
2016

September 30, 2017

United States
International
Property and equipment, net
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$

16,585
1,373

$

13,025
1,663

$

17,958

$

14,688
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ITEM 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Overview
We are a pioneer and leading provider of cloud software for contact centers, facilitating more than three billion interactions between our more
than 2,000 clients and their customers per year. We believe we achieved this leadership position through our expertise and technology, which has empowered
us to help organizations of all sizes transition from legacy on-premise contact center systems to our cloud solution. Our solution, which is comprised of our
Virtual Contact Center, or VCC, cloud platform and applications, allows simultaneous management and optimization of customer interactions across voice,
chat, email, web, social media and mobile channels, either directly or through our application programming interfaces, or APIs. Our VCC cloud platform
routes each customer interaction to an appropriate agent resource, and delivers relevant customer data to the agent in real-time to optimize the customer
experience. Unlike legacy on-premise contact center systems, our solution requires minimal up-front investment and can be rapidly deployed and adjusted
depending on our client’s requirements.
Since founding our business in 2001, we have focused exclusively on delivering cloud contact center software. We initially targeted smaller contact
center opportunities with our telesales team and, over time, invested in expanding the breadth and depth of the functionality of our cloud platform to meet
the evolving requirements of our clients. In 2009, we made a strategic decision to expand our market opportunity to include larger contact centers. This
decision drove further investments in research and development and the establishment of our field sales team to meet the requirements of these larger contact
centers. We believe this shift has helped us diversify our client base while significantly enhancing our opportunity for future revenue growth. To complement
these efforts, we have also focused on building client awareness and driving adoption of our solution through marketing activities, which include internet
advertising, digital marketing campaigns, social marketing, trade shows, industry events and telemarketing.
We provide our solution through a SaaS business model with recurring subscriptions. We offer a comprehensive suite of applications delivered on our
VCC cloud platform that are designed to enable our clients to manage and optimize both inbound and outbound interactions. We primarily generate revenue
by selling subscriptions and related usage of our VCC cloud platform. We charge our clients monthly subscription fees for access to our solution, primarily
based on the number of agent seats, as well as the specific functionalities and applications our clients deploy. We define agent seats as the maximum number
of named agents allowed to concurrently access our solution. Our clients typically have more named agents than agent seats, and multiple named agents may
use an agent seat, though not simultaneously. Substantially all of our clients purchase both subscriptions and related telephony usage from us. A small
percentage of our clients subscribe to our platform but purchase telephony usage directly from wholesale telecommunications service providers. We do not
sell telephony usage on a stand-alone basis to any client. The related usage fees are based on the volume of minutes for inbound and outbound interactions.
We also offer bundled plans, generally for smaller deployments, where the client is charged a single monthly fixed fee per agent seat that includes both
subscription and unlimited usage in the contiguous 48 states and, in some cases, Canada. We offer monthly, annual and multiple-year contracts to our clients,
generally with 30 days’ notice required for changes in the number of agent seats. Our clients can use this notice period to rapidly adjust the number of agent
seats used to meet their changing contact center volume needs, including to reduce the number of agent seats to zero. As a general matter, this means that a
client can effectively terminate its agreement with us upon 30 days’ notice. Our larger clients typically choose annual contracts, which generally include an
implementation and ramp period of several months. Fixed subscription fees, including bundled plans, are generally billed monthly in advance, while related
usage fees are billed in arrears. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, subscription and related usage fees accounted for 93% and 94% of
our revenue. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, subscription and related usage fees accounted for 96% and 95% of our revenue,
respectively. The remainder was comprised of professional services revenue from the implementation and optimization of our solution.
Our revenue increased to $50.1 million and $144.8 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 from $41.0 million and $117.9
million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016. Revenue growth has primarily been driven by our larger clients. For each of the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, no single client accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue. As of September 30, 2017, we had over
2,000 clients across multiple industries. Our clients' subscriptions generally range in size from fewer than
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10 agent seats to approximately 1,000 agent seats. We had net income of $0.9 million and net loss of $8.3 million in the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2017, compared to net loss of $3.9 million and $12.3 million for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016.
We have continued to make significant expenditures and investments, including in sales and marketing, research and development and infrastructure.
We primarily evaluate the success of our business based on revenue growth, adjusted EBITDA and the efficiency and effectiveness of our investments. The
growth of our business and our future success depend on many factors, including our ability to continue to expand our client base, particularly in larger
opportunities, grow revenue from our existing client base, develop innovative products and features, and expand internationally. While these areas represent
significant opportunities for us, they also pose risks and challenges that we must successfully address in order to sustain the growth of our business and
improve our operating results. In order to pursue these opportunities, we anticipate that we will continue to expand our operations and headcount in the near
term.
Due to our continuing investments to grow our business, increase our sales and marketing efforts, pursue new opportunities, enhance our solution and
build our technology, we expect our cost of revenue and operating expenses to increase in absolute dollars in future periods. However, we expect these
expenses to decrease as a percentage of revenue as we grow our revenue and gain economies of scale by increasing our client base without direct incremental
development costs and by utilizing more of the capacity of our data centers.
Key Operating and Financial Performance Metrics
In addition to measures of financial performance presented in our condensed consolidated financial statements, we monitor the key metrics set forth
below to help us evaluate growth trends, establish budgets, measure the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts and assess operational efficiencies.
Annual Dollar-Based Retention Rate
We believe that our Annual Dollar-Based Retention Rate provides insight into our ability to retain and grow revenue from our clients, and is a measure
of the long-term value of our client relationships. Our Annual Dollar-Based Retention Rate is calculated by dividing our Retained Net Invoicing by our
Retention Base Net Invoicing on a monthly basis, which we then average using the rates for the trailing twelve months for the period being presented. We
define Retention Base Net Invoicing as recurring net invoicing from all clients in the comparable prior year period, and we define Retained Net Invoicing as
recurring net invoicing from that same group of clients in the current period. We define recurring net invoicing as subscription and related usage revenue
excluding the impact of service credits, reserves and deferrals. Historically, the difference between recurring net invoicing and our subscription and related
usage revenue has been within 10%.
The following table shows our Annual Dollar-Based Retention Rate for the periods presented:
Twelve Months Ended

Annual Dollar-Based Retention Rate

September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

98%

100%

Our Dollar-Based Retention Rate declined year over year primarily due to the prior year period benefits from the ramp of one of our largest customers.
Adjusted EBITDA
We monitor adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, to analyze our financial results and believe that it is useful to investors, as a supplement
to U.S. GAAP measures, in evaluating our ongoing operational performance and enhancing an overall understanding of our past financial performance. We
believe that adjusted EBITDA helps illustrate underlying trends in our business that could otherwise be masked by the effect of the income or expenses that
we exclude from adjusted EBITDA. Furthermore, we use this measure to establish budgets and operational goals for managing our business and evaluating
our performance. We also believe that adjusted EBITDA provides an additional tool for investors to use in comparing our recurring core business operating
results over multiple periods with other companies in our industry.
Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and
our calculation of adjusted EBITDA may differ from that of other companies in our industry. We compensate for the inherent limitations associated with
using adjusted EBITDA
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through disclosure of these limitations, presentation of our financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP and reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to the
most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measure, net income (loss). We calculate adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) before (1) depreciation and
amortization, (2) stock-based compensation, (3) interest income, expense and other, (4) provision for income taxes, and (5) other unusual items that do not
directly affect what we consider to be our core operating performance.
The following table shows a reconciliation from net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2017

Net income (loss)
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization (1)
Stock-based compensation (2)
Extinguishment of debt
Interest expense
Interest income and other
Legal settlement (3)
Legal and indemnification fees related to settlement (3)
Reversal of interest and penalties on accrued federal fees (4)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

924

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2016

September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

$

$

$

1,881
3,720
—
865
(118)
—
—
(2,133)
43

(3,890)
2,140
2,519
1,026
961
(12)
—
—
—
(2)

5,182

$

(8,338)
6,246
10,703
—
2,635
(326)
1,700
135
(2,133)
142

2,742

$

10,764

(12,269)
6,302
6,927
1,026
3,357
66
—
—
—
68

$

5,477

(1) Depreciation and amortization expenses included in our results of operations are as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2017

Cost of revenue
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total depreciation and amortization

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2016

September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

$

1,397
182
30
272

$

1,668
204
56
212

$

4,689
625
90
842

$

4,964
513
163
662

$

1,881

$

2,140

$

6,246

$

6,302

(2) See Note 6 of the notes to condensed consolidated financial statements for stock-based compensation expense included in our results of operations for the
periods presented.
(3) Represents settlement amount, legal and indemnification fees related to the settlement of the Melcher litigation. See Note 9 of the notes to condensed
consolidated financial statements.
(4) Represents the reversal of accrued interest and penalties related to the Universal Services Fund ("USF") liability following a favorable ruling from the
FCC's Wireline Competition Bureau. See Note 9 of the notes to condensed consolidated financial statements for additional information.
Key Components of Our Results of Operations
Revenue
Our revenue consists of subscription and related usage as well as professional services. We consider our subscription and related usage to be recurring
revenue. This recurring revenue includes fixed subscription fees for the delivery and support of our VCC cloud platform, as well as related usage fees. The
related usage fees are based on the volume of minutes for inbound and outbound client interactions. We also offer bundled plans, generally for smaller
deployments, where the client is charged a single monthly fixed fee per agent seat that includes both
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subscription and unlimited usage in the contiguous 48 states and, in some cases, Canada. We offer monthly, annual and multiple-year contracts for our
clients, generally with 30 days’ notice required for changes in the number of agent seats. Our clients can use this notice period to rapidly adjust the number of
agent seats used to meet their changing contact center volume needs, including to reduce the number of agent seats to zero. As a general matter, this means
that a client can effectively terminate its agreement with us upon 30 days’ notice.
Fixed subscription fees, including plans with bundled usage, are generally billed monthly in advance, while variable usage fees are billed in arrears.
Fixed subscription fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over the applicable term, predominantly the monthly contractual billing period. Support
activities include technical assistance for our solution and upgrades and enhancements on a when and if available basis, which are not billed separately.
Variable subscription related usage fees for non-bundled plans are billed in arrears based on client-specific per minute rate plans and are recognized as actual
usage occurs. We generally require advance deposits from clients based on estimated usage. All fees, except usage deposits, are non-refundable.
In addition, we generate professional services revenue from assisting clients in implementing our solution and optimizing use. These services include
application configuration, system integration and education and training services. Professional services are primarily billed on a fixed-fee basis and are
typically performed by us directly. In limited cases, our clients choose to perform these services themselves or engage their own third-party service providers
to perform such services. Professional services are recognized as the services are performed using the proportional performance method, with performance
measured based on labor hours, provided all other criteria for revenue recognition are met.
Cost of Revenue
Our cost of revenue consists primarily of personnel costs (including stock-based compensation), fees that we pay to telecommunications providers for
usage, USF contributions and other regulatory costs, depreciation and related expenses of the servers and equipment, costs to build out and maintain colocation data centers, and allocated office and facility costs and amortization of acquired technology. Cost of revenue can fluctuate based on a number of
factors, including the fees we pay to telecommunications providers, which vary depending on our clients’ usage of our VCC cloud platform, the timing of
capital expenditures and related depreciation charges and changes in headcount. We expect to continue investing in our network infrastructure and
operations and client support function to maintain high quality and availability of service, resulting in absolute dollar increases in Cost of Revenue. As our
business grows, we expect to realize economies of scale in network infrastructure, personnel and client support.
Operating Expenses
We classify our operating expenses as research and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative expenses.
Research and Development. Our research and development expenses consist primarily of salary and related expenses (including stock-based
compensation) for personnel related to the development of improvements and expanded features for our services, as well as quality assurance, testing, product
management and allocated overhead. We expense research and development expenses as they are incurred except for internal-use software development costs
that qualify for capitalization. We believe that continued investment in our solution is important for our future growth, and we expect research and
development expenses to increase in absolute dollars in the foreseeable future, although these expenses as a percentage of our revenue are expected to
decrease over time.
Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses (including stock-based compensation) for
personnel in sales and marketing, sales commissions, as well as advertising, marketing, corporate communications, travel costs and allocated overhead. We
expense sales commissions associated with the acquisition of client contracts as incurred in the period the contract is acquired. We believe it is important to
continue investing in sales and marketing to continue to generate revenue growth. Accordingly, we expect sales and marketing expenses to increase in
absolute dollars as we continue to support our growth initiatives.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salary and related expenses (including stock-based
compensation) for management, finance and accounting, legal, information systems and human resources personnel, professional fees, compliance costs,
other corporate expenses and allocated overhead. We expect that general and administrative expenses will fluctuate in absolute dollars from period to period,
but decline as a percentage of revenue over time.
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Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest expense associated with our debt and capital leases. We expect interest expense for our
outstanding debt to decrease due to a lower interest rate for our New Revolving Credit Facility compared to the 2014 Loan and Security Agreement and the
2013 Loan and Security Agreement (see Note 5 of the notes to condensed consolidated financial statements). We expect interest expense for our capital
leases to increase as a result of our continued capital spending funded by capital leases.
Provision for Income Taxes
Our provision for income taxes consists primarily of corporate income taxes resulting from profits generated in foreign jurisdictions by our whollyowned subsidiaries, along with state income taxes payable in the United States.
Results of Operations for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 and 2016
Based on the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss set forth in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the following
table sets forth our operating results as a percentage of revenue for the periods indicated:
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2017

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense), net:
Extinguishment of debt
Interest expense
Interest income and other
Total other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Net income (loss)

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2016

September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

41 %

43 %

42 %

43 %

59 %

57 %

58 %

57 %

13 %

15 %

14 %

15 %

33 %

32 %

34 %

32 %

10 %

15 %

14 %

17 %

56 %

62 %

62 %

64 %

3%

(5)%

(4)%

(7)%

—%

(3)%

—%

(1)%

(2)%

(2)%

(2)%

(3)%

1%

1%

—%

1%

(1)%

(4)%

(2)%

(3)%
(10)%

2%

(9)%

(6)%

—%

—%

—%

—%

2%

(9)%

(6)%

(10)%

Revenue
Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

$
Change

$50,081

$40,982

$9,099

%
Change

September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

$
Change

%
Change

$117,883

$26,939

23%

(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenue

22%

$144,822

The increase in revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the same periods of 2016 was primarily attributable to
our larger clients, driven by an increase in our sales and marketing activities and our improved brand awareness.
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Cost of Revenue
Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

$
Change

$20,497

$17,790

$2,707

41%

43%

%
Change

September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

$
Change

%
Change

$60,741

$51,164

$9,577

19%

42%

43%

(in thousands, except percentages)

Cost of revenue
% of Revenue

15%

The increase in cost of revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the same periods of 2016 was primarily due to a
$1.6 million and a $4.7 million increase in cash-based personnel costs driven by increased headcount, a $0.7 million and a $1.6 million increase in third
party hosted software costs due to increased client activities, and a $0.4 million and a $1.1 million increase in facility-related costs. For the nine months
ended September 30, 2017 compared to the same period of 2016, the increase was also driven by a $1.4 million increase in data center costs, USF
contributions and other federal telecommunication service fees primarily due to increased client usage.
Gross Profit
Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

$
Change

$29,584

$23,192

$6,392

59%

57%

%
Change

September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

$
Change

%
Change

$84,081

$66,719

$17,362

26%

58%

57%

(in thousands, except percentages)

Gross profit
% of Revenue

28%

The increase in gross profit for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the same periods of 2016 was primarily due to
increases in subscription and usage revenues. The increase in gross margin for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the same
period of 2016 was primarily due to economies of scale for subscriptions and to improved efficiency in usage.
Operating Expenses
Research and Development
Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

$
Change

$6,689

$6,041

$648

13%

15%

%
Change

September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

$
Change

%
Change

$20,372

$17,642

$2,730

15%

14%

15%

(in thousands, except percentages)

Research and development
% of Revenue

11%

The increase in research and development expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the same periods of 2016 was
primarily due to a $0.5 million and a $1.5 million increase in cash-based personnel-related costs resulting from increased headcount, and a $0.3 million and a
$0.7 million increase in stock-based compensation costs. For the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the same period of 2016, the increase
was partially offset by a $0.1 million decrease in consulting costs. For the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the same period of 2016, the
increase was also driven by a $0.3 million increase in facilities and allocated overhead costs.
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Sales and Marketing
Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

$
Change

$16,502

$12,925

$3,577

33%

32%

%
Change

September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

$
Change

%
Change

$49,212

$38,268

$10,944

29%

34%

32%

(in thousands, except percentages)

Sales and marketing
% of Revenue

28%

The increase in sales and marketing expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the same periods of 2016 was
primarily due to a $1.0 million and a $4.0 million increase in cash-based personnel-related costs driven by increased headcount, a $1.1 million and a $2.8
million increase in commissions paid to sales personnel driven by the growth in sales and bookings of our solution, a $0.5 million and a $1.6 million increase
in stock-based compensation costs, a $0.3 million and a $0.9 million increase in discretionary and other marketing-related expenses, and $0.2 million and a
$0.7 million increase in business travel and related expenses. These increases, as well as the remainder of the increase, were primarily due to the execution of
our growth strategy to acquire new clients, to increase the number of agent seats within our existing client base, and to establish brand awareness.
General and Administrative
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

Nine Months Ended
$
Change

%
Change

September 30,
2017

September 30,
2016

$
Change

%
Change

$20,384

$18,561

$1,823

10%

14%

17%

(in thousands, except percentages)

General and administrative
% of Revenue

$4,679

$6,143

10%

15%

$(1,464)

(24)%

The decrease in general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the same period of 2016 was
primarily due to a $2.1 million reversal of interest and penalties on the accrued federal fees following a favorable ruling from the FCC's Wireline Competition
Bureau. See Note 9 of the notes to condensed consolidated financial statements for more information. The decrease was offset in part by a $0.4 million
increase in cash-based personnel-related costs driven by increased headcount and a $0.3 million increase in stock-based compensation costs.
The increase in general and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the same period of 2016 was primarily
due to a $1.8 million settlement and legal costs incurred in the first quarter of 2017, a $2.0 million increase in cash-based personnel-related costs driven by
increased headcount, and a $0.8 million increase in stock-based compensation costs. The increase was offset partially by a $1.0 million decrease in facilityrelated cost and a $2.1 million reversal of interest and penalties on the accrued federal fees following a favorable ruling from the FCC's Wireline Competition
Bureau. See Note 9 of the notes to condensed consolidated financial statements for more information.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2017

Nine Months Ended
$
Change

September 30, 2016

%
Change

September 30, 2017

$
Change

September 30, 2016

%
Change

(in thousands, except percentages)

Extinguishment of debt

$

Interest expense
Interest income and
other
Total other expense, net
% of Revenue

—

$

(865)

(747)
(1)%

$

(961)

118
$

(1,026)

12
$

(1,975)

$

1,026

100%

96

10%

106

883%

1,228

62%

(4)%

$

—

(2,309)

(1,026)

$

(3,357)

326
$

(2)%

29

$

(2,635)

(66)
$

(4,449)
(3)%

$

1,026

100%

722

22%

392

594%

2,140

48%
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The decrease in other income (expense), net for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the same period of 2016 was
primarily due to a $1.0 million loss on the refinancing of debt recorded in the third quarter of 2016 in connection with the repayment of amounts due under
the 2013 Loan and Security Agreement and the 2014 Loan and Security Agreement. See Note 5 of the notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
for more information. The decrease was also due to lower interest expense from lower interest rates under the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement, partially
offset by the non-cash adjustment on investment of $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
To date, we have financed our operations primarily through sales of our solution, lease facilities and net proceeds from our equity and debt financings.
As of September 30, 2017, we had cash and cash equivalents totaling $63.4 million.
As of September 30, 2017, we had a total of $32.6 million outstanding under the New Revolving Credit Facility governed by our 2016 Loan and
Security Agreement. On August 1, 2016, we entered into the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement with two lenders for the New Revolving Credit Facility of up
to $50.0 million. The New Revolving Credit Facility matures on August 1, 2019. Under the terms of the New Revolving Credit Facility, the balance
outstanding cannot exceed our trailing four months of MRR (monthly recurring revenue including subscription and usage) multiplied by the average trailing
12 month dollar based retention rate (calculated on the same basis as described above under the heading "Annual Dollar-Based Retention Rate"). The New
Revolving Credit Facility carries a variable annual interest rate of the prime rate plus 0.50%, subject to a 0.25% increase if our adjusted EBITDA is negative
at the end of any fiscal quarter. Upon the effectiveness of the 2016 Loan and Security Agreement, we immediately drew down $32.6 million and terminated
the 2013 Loan and Security Agreement and the 2014 Loan and Security Agreement by repaying the aggregate outstanding principal, accrued interest and
prepayment penalty balances thereunder of $32.4 million along with $0.2 million in administrative fees. As of September 30, 2017, the amount available for
additional borrowings was $17.4 million.
In addition, as of September 30, 2017, we had a $0.5 million FCC civil penalty payable to the U.S. Treasury. See Note 5 of the notes to condensed
consolidated financial statements for more information.
We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents and the amount available for borrowing under our New Revolving Credit Facility (or any
refinancing of the facility) will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital
requirements will depend on many factors including our growth rate, continuing market acceptance of our solution, client retention, our ability to gain new
clients, the timing and extent of spending to support development efforts, the outcome of any pending or future litigation or other claims by third parties or
governmental entities, the expansion of sales and marketing activities and the introduction of new and enhanced offerings. We may also acquire or invest in
complementary businesses, technologies and intellectual property rights, which may increase our future capital requirements, both to pay acquisition costs
and to support our combined operations. We may raise additional equity or debt financing at any time. We may not be able to raise additional equity or debt
financing on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired or required, our business, operating results, and financial
condition would be harmed. In addition, if our operating performance during the next twelve months is below our expectations, our liquidity and ability to
operate our business could be harmed
If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or equity-linked securities, the ownership of our existing stockholders will be diluted. If we raise
additional funds through the incurrence of additional indebtedness, we will be subject to increased debt service obligations and could also be subject to new
or additional restrictive covenants and other operating restrictions that could harm our ability to conduct our business.
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Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented (in thousands, except percentages):
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2017

September 30, 2016

$ Change

% Change

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities

$

8,226
(1,809)
(1,175)

$

4,004
(1,033)
(4,122)

$

4,222
(776)
2,947

105 %
(75)%
71 %

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

5,242

$

(1,151)

$

6,393

555 %

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash provided by or used in operating activities is primarily influenced by our personnel-related expenditures, data center and telecommunications
carrier costs, office and facility related costs, USF contributions and other regulatory costs and the amount and timing of client payments. If we continue to
improve our financial results, we expect net cash provided by operating activities to increase. Our largest source of operating cash inflows is cash collections
from our clients for subscription and related usage services. Payments from clients for these services are typically received monthly.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, net cash provided by operating activities was $8.2 million compared to $4.0 million for the same
period of 2016. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities was due to a $4.0 million favorable impact from a decrease in net loss after adjusting
for non-cash expenses and a $0.2 million favorable change in net cash flows from operating assets and liabilities. Cash outflows during the nine months
ended September 30, 2017 included a payment of $1.8 million settlement, legal and indemnification fees related to the Melcher litigation. See Note 9 of the
notes to consolidated financial statements for more information
During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities was $1.9 million compared to $1.7
million for the same period of 2016, resulted in an overall improvement of $0.2 million. This improvement was primarily due to a favorable change of $1.2
million in deferred revenue mainly attributable to increased billings and $0.4 million in accounts payable related to timing of payments, offset by an
unfavorable change of $1.0 million in accounts receivable due to increased sales, and $1.0 million in accrued and other current liabilities primarily driven by
an increased accrued cash-based personnel-related costs resulted from increased headcount.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was primarily for the purchase of property and
equipment. Our most significant capital expenditures have been investments in our software and equipment for our data centers. We expect such capital
investment will continue in the future.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities was $1.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to $4.1 million for the same period in
2016. The decrease was primarily due to the $36.9 million repayments on notes payable and revolving line of credit as part of our cancellation of the 2013
Loan and Security Agreement and the 2014 Loan and Security Agreement, offset by $32.6 million in drawdown under our New Revolving Credit Facility,
during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The decrease in net cash used in financing activities was also attributed to a $0.8 million decrease in cash
received from stock option exercises, offset by an increase of $1.0 million proceeds from the sale of common stock under our employee stock purchase plan,
during the nine months ended September 30, 2017.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures. On an ongoing basis, we
evaluate our estimates and assumptions. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
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We believe our critical accounting policies involve the greatest degree of judgment and complexity and have the greatest potential impact on our
condensed consolidated financial statements. Our critical accounting policies are disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2016. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, our critical accounting policies did not materially change. Please see Note 1 of Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of September 30, 2017, we did not have any off balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation S-K, such as the use
of unconsolidated subsidiaries, structured finance, special purpose entities or variable interest entities.
Contractual Obligations
Our principal contractual obligations consist of future payment obligations under debt, capital leases to finance data centers and other computer and
networking equipment, debt agreements (see Note 5), operating leases for office space, research and development, and sales and marketing facilities, and
agreements with third parties to provide co-location hosting, telecommunication usage and equipment maintenance services. These commitments as of
December 31, 2016 are disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, and did not change during the nine months
ended September 30, 2017 except for the acquisition of certain additional data center and network equipment and software under multiple capital leases. As
of September 30, 2017, the total minimum future payment commitments under these capital leases added during the nine months ended September 30, 2017
were approximately $7.5 million, of which $0.7 million is due during the remainder of 2017, with the remainder of $6.8 million due over approximately 35
months. The Company entered into various hosting and telecommunications agreements for terms of 11 to 36 months commencing on various dates in the
first three quarters of 2017. These agreements require the Company to make monthly payments over the service term in exchange for certain network services.
The Company's total minimum future payment commitments under these agreements are $4.3 million.
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ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk
We are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due
to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates. We do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes. For a discussion of market risk, see “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosure about Market Risk” in Item 7A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. Our exposure to market risk has
not changed materially since December 31, 2016.
ITEM 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as
of September 30, 2017.
Based on management’s evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of September 30, 2017, our disclosure
controls and procedures were designed, and were effective, to provide assurance at a reasonable level that the information we are required to disclose in
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and
forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosures.
In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any disclosure controls and procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure
controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the
benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
During the three months ended September 30, 2017, there was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. Legal Proceedings
Information with respect to this Item may be found under the heading “Legal Matters” in Note 9 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which information is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 1A. Risk Factors
Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties
described below, together with all of the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. If any of the following risks or other risks actually occur,
our business, financial condition, results of operations, and future prospects could be materially harmed, and the price of our common stock could decline.
The following description of the risk factors associated with our business includes any material changes to and supersedes the description of the risk
factors associated with our business previously disclosed in Part II, Item 1A of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30,
2017.
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
Our quarterly and annual results may fluctuate significantly, may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business and may result in decreases
in the price of our common stock.
Our quarterly and annual results of operations, including our revenues, profitability and cash flow have varied, and may vary significantly in the future,
and period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be meaningful. Accordingly, the results of any one quarter or period should not be relied
upon as an indication of future performance. Our quarterly and annual financial results may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are
outside our control and, as a result, may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business. Fluctuation in quarterly and annual results may harm the
value of our common stock. Factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly and annual results include, without limitation:
• market acceptance of our solution;
• our ability to attract new clients and grow our business with existing clients;
• client renewal rates;
• our ability to adequately expand our sales and service team;
• our ability to acquire and maintain strategic and client relationships;
• the amount and timing of costs and expenses related to the maintenance and expansion of our business, operations and infrastructure;
• the timing and success of new product and feature introductions by us or our competitors or any other change in the competitive dynamics of our
industry, including consolidation among competitors, clients or strategic partners;
• network outages or security incidents, which may result in additional expenses or losses, the loss of clients, the provision of client credits, and harm
to our reputation;
• seasonal factors that may cause our revenues in the first half of a year to be relatively lower than our revenues in the second half of a year;
• inaccessibility or failure of our cloud contact center software due to failures in the products or services provided by third parties;
• our ability to expand, and effectively utilize our network of master agents and resellers;
• the timing of recognition of revenues under current and future GAAP;
• changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;
• the level of professional services and support we provide our clients;
• the components of our revenue;
• the addition or loss of key clients, including through acquisitions or consolidations;
• general economic, industry and market conditions;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the timing of costs and expenses related to the development or acquisition of technologies or businesses and potential future charges for impairment
of goodwill from acquired companies;
compliance with, or changes in, the current and future domestic and international regulatory environment;
the hiring, training and retention of key employees;
litigation or other claims against us;
the ability to expand internationally, and to do so profitability;
our ability to obtain additional financing;
advances and trends in new technologies and industry standards; and
increases or decreases in the costs to provide our solution or pricing changes upon any renewals of client agreements.

If we are unable to attract new clients or sell additional services and functionality to our existing clients, our revenue and revenue growth will be harmed.
To increase our revenue, we must add new clients, add additional agent seats and sell additional functionality to existing clients, and encourage
existing clients to renew their subscriptions on terms favorable to us. As our industry matures, as our clients experience seasonal trends in their business, or as
competitors introduce lower cost or differentiated products or services that are perceived to compete favorably with ours, our ability to add new clients and
renew, maintain or sell additional services to existing clients based on pricing, cost of ownership, technology and functionality could be harmed. As a result,
our existing clients may not renew our agreements or may decrease the number of agent seats, and we may be unable to attract new clients or grow or maintain
our business with existing clients, which could harm our revenue and growth.
Furthermore, a portion of our revenue is generated by acquiring domestic and international telecommunications minutes from wholesale
telecommunication service providers and reselling those minutes to our clients. As a result, if telecommunications rates decrease, we must resell more minutes
to maintain our level of usage revenue.
Our recent rapid growth may not be indicative of our future growth, and if we continue to grow rapidly, we may fail to manage our growth effectively.
For the three months ended September 30, 2017, our revenue was $50.1 million, which increased by $9.1 million, or 22%, from $41.0 million for the
same period of 2016. For the nine months ended September 30, 2017, our revenue was $144.8 million, which increased by $26.9 million, or 23%,
from $117.9 million for the same period of 2016. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, our revenue was $162.1 million, $128.9 million,
and $103.1 million, respectively, representing year-over-year growth of 26% and 25%, respectively. In the future, as our revenue increases, our quarterly or
annual revenue growth rate may decline. We believe revenue growth will depend on a number of factors, including our ability to:
• compete with other vendors of cloud-based enterprise contact center systems to capture market share, including from providers of legacy on-premise
systems;
• increase our existing clients’ use of our solution and further develop our partner ecosystem;
• strengthen and improve our solution through significant investments in research and development and the introduction of new and enhanced
solutions;
• introduce our solution to new markets outside of the United States and increase global awareness of our brand; and
• selectively pursue acquisitions.
If we are not successful in achieving these objectives, our ability to grow our revenue may be negatively impacted. In addition, we plan to continue to
invest in future growth, including expending substantial financial and other resources on:
• sales and marketing, including a significant expansion of our sales and professional services organization;
• our technology infrastructure, including systems architecture, management tools, scalability, availability, performance and security, as well as
disaster recovery measures;
• solution development, including investments in our solution development team and the development of new solutions, as well as new applications
and features for existing solutions;
• international expansion; and
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general administration, including legal, regulatory compliance and accounting expenses.

Moreover, we continue to expand our headcount and operations. We grew from 692 employees as of December 31, 2015 to 840 employees as of
September 30, 2017. We anticipate that we will continue to expand our operations and headcount in the near term. This growth has placed, and future growth
will place, a significant strain on our management, administrative, operational and financial resources and infrastructure. Our success will depend in part on
our ability to manage this growth effectively. To manage the expected growth of our operations and personnel, we will need to continue to improve our
operational, financial and management controls and our reporting systems and procedures. Failure to effectively manage growth could result in difficulty or
delays in adding new clients, declines in quality or client satisfaction, increases in costs, system failures, difficulties in introducing new features or solutions,
the need for more capital than we anticipate or other operational difficulties, and any of these difficulties could harm our business performance and results of
operations.
The expected addition of new employees and the capital investments that we anticipate will be necessary to manage our anticipated growth will make
it more difficult for us to generate earnings or offset any future revenue shortfalls by reducing costs and expenses in the short term. If we fail to manage our
anticipated growth, we will be unable to execute our business plan successfully.
Failure to adequately expand our direct sales force will impede our growth.
We need to continue to expand and optimize our sales infrastructure in order to grow our client base and business. We plan to continue to expand our
direct sales force, both domestically and internationally. Identifying and recruiting qualified personnel and training them in the use and sale of our solution
requires significant time, expense and attention. It can take several months before our sales representatives are fully trained and productive. Our business may
be harmed if our efforts, and the expense incurred, to expand and train our direct sales force do not generate a corresponding increase in revenues. In
particular, if we are unable to hire, develop and retain talented sales personnel or if new sales personnel are unable to achieve desired productivity levels in a
reasonable period of time, we may not be able to realize the expected benefits of this investment or increase our revenues.
If we fail to manage our technical operations infrastructure, our existing clients may experience service outages, our new clients may experience delays in
the deployment of our solution and we could be subject to, among other things, claims for credits or damages.
Our success depends in large part upon the capacity, stability and performance of our operations infrastructure. From time to time, we have experienced
interruptions in service, and may experience such interruptions in the future. These service interruptions may be caused by a variety of factors, including
infrastructure changes, human or software errors, viruses, security attacks, fraud, spikes in client usage and denial of service issues. In some instances, we may
not be able to identify the cause or causes of these performance problems within an acceptable period of time. Our failure to achieve or maintain expected
performance levels, stability and security could harm our relationships with our clients, result in claims for credits or damages, damage our reputation and
significantly reduce client demand for our solution and harm our business.
•
•
•
•
•

Any future service interruptions could:
cause our clients to seek credits or damages for losses incurred;
cause existing clients to cancel their contracts and move to a competitor;
affect our reputation as a reliable service provider;
make it more difficult for us to attract new clients or expand our business with existing clients; or
require us to replace existing equipment.

We have experienced significant growth in the number of agents and interactions that our infrastructure supports. As the number of agent seats within
our client base grows and our clients' use of our service increases, we need to continue to make additional investments in our capacity to maintain adequate
stability and performance, the availability of which may be limited or the cost of which may be prohibitive. In addition, we need to properly manage our
operations infrastructure in order to support version control, changes in hardware and software parameters and the evolution of our solution. If we do not
accurately predict or improve our infrastructure requirements to keep pace with growth in our business, our business could be harmed.
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Security breaches and improper access to or disclosure of our data or our clients’ data, or other cyber attacks on our systems, could result in litigation and
regulatory risk, harm our reputation and adversely affect our business.
Our solution involves the storage and transmission of our clients’ information, including information about our clients’ customers or other information
treated by our clients as confidential. Unauthorized access, unauthorized use of our systems, security breaches or other cyber attacks could result in the loss of
confidentiality, integrity and availability of such information, leading to litigation, indemnity obligations, increased expense, and other liability. Such
incidents could also cause interruptions to the solution we provide, degrade the user experience, or cause clients to lose confidence in our solution. In April
2017, we were notified that third parties were suspected of having unlawfully acquired some of our clients’ information. We conducted an investigation,
believe this acquisition was the result of a vulnerability that has now been remediated, and notified clients we determined may have been impacted. Expenses
incurred to date related to this incident have not been material.
While we have security measures in place to protect client information and minimize the probability of security breaches and other cyber attacks, if
these measures fail as a result of a cyber-attack, other third-party action, employee error, malfeasance or otherwise, and someone obtains unauthorized access
to our clients’ information, our reputation could be damaged, our business may suffer and we could incur significant liability. Because the techniques used to
obtain unauthorized access or sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not identified until they are launched against a target, we may be unable
to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. In addition, third parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees or
users to disclose information in order to gain access to our data or our users' data. Moreover, any failure on the part of third parties, including our clients, to
maintain appropriate security measures for their own systems could harm our relationships with our clients, result in claims against us for credits or damages,
damage our reputation and significantly reduce client demand for our solution. Any or all of these issues could harm our ability to attract new clients, cause
existing clients to cancel, reduce or not renew their subscriptions, result in reputational damage or subject us to third-party lawsuits, regulatory fines or other
action or liability, including orders or consent decrees forcing us to modify our business practices, all of which could have a material and adverse effect on
our business, reputation or financial results.
The markets in which we participate are highly competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our operating results could be harmed.
The market for contact center solutions is highly competitive. Generally, we do not have long-term contracts with our clients and our clients can
terminate our service and switch to competitors’ offerings on short notice.
We currently compete with large legacy technology vendors that offer on-premise enterprise telephony and contact center systems, such as Avaya and
Cisco, and legacy on-premise software companies that come from a computer-telephony integration, or CTI, heritage, such as Aspect and Genesys (including
through its acquisition of Interactive Intelligence). These companies are supplementing their traditional on-premise contact center systems with cloud
offerings, either through acquisition or in-house development. Additionally, we compete with vendors that historically provided other contact center services
and technologies and expanded to offer cloud contact center software. These companies include inContact (acquired by NICE Ltd.) and LiveOps, now named
Seranova. We also face competition from smaller contact center service providers with specialized contact center software offerings. Our actual and potential
competitors may enjoy competitive advantages over us, including greater name recognition, longer operating histories and larger marketing budgets, as well
as greater financial or technical resources. With the introduction of new technologies and market entrants, we expect competition to intensify in the future.
Some of our competitors can devote significantly greater resources than we can to the development, promotion and sale of their products and services
and many have the ability to initiate or withstand substantial price competition. Current or potential competitors may also be acquired by third parties with
significantly greater resources, such as NICE Ltd.'s acquisition of inContact and Genesys’ acquisition of Interactive Intelligence. In addition, many of our
competitors have stronger name recognition, longer operating histories, established relationships with clients, more comprehensive product offerings, larger
installed bases and major distribution agreements with consultants, system integrators and resellers. Our competitors may also establish cooperative
relationships among themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their product offerings or resources and ability to compete. If our competitors’
products, services or technologies become more accepted than our solution, if they are successful in bringing their products or services to market earlier than
ours, or if their products or services are less expensive or more technologically capable than ours, our revenues could be harmed. Pricing pressures and
increased competition could result in reduced sales and revenues, reduced margins and loss of, or a failure to maintain or improve, our competitive market
position, any of which could harm our business.
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If our existing clients terminate their subscriptions or reduce their subscriptions and related usage, our revenues and gross margins will be harmed and we
will be required to spend more money to grow our client base.
We expect to continue to derive a significant portion of our revenues from existing clients. As a result, retaining our existing clients is critical to our
future operating results. We offer monthly, annual and multiple-year contracts to our clients, with 30 days’ notice generally required for changes in the
number of agent seats, including to zero, or termination of their contracts. Subscriptions and related usage by our existing clients may decrease if:
• clients are not satisfied with our services, prices or the functionality of our solution;
• the stability, performance or security of our hosting infrastructure and hosting services are not satisfactory;
• our clients’ business declines due to industry cycles, seasonality, business difficulties or other reasons;
• competition increases from other contact center providers;
• fewer clients purchase usage from us;
• alternative technologies, products or features emerge that we do not provide;
• our clients or potential clients experience financial difficulties; or
• the U.S. or global economy declines.
If our existing clients’ subscriptions and related usage decrease or are terminated, we will need to spend more money to acquire new clients to maintain
our existing level of revenues. We incur significant costs and expenses, including sales and marketing expenses, to acquire new clients, and those costs and
expenses are an important factor in determining our net profitability. There can be no assurance that our efforts to acquire new clients will be successful.
Our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties and our failure to successfully grow and manage these
relationships could harm our business.
We leverage strategic relationships with third parties, such as customer relationship management, or CRM, providers, Workforce Optimization, or WFO,
providers, other technology providers, system integrators, and telephony providers. For example, our CRM and system integrator relationships provide
significant lead generation for new client opportunities. These relationships are typically not exclusive and our partners often also offer products of our
competitors. As we grow our business, we will continue to depend on both existing and new strategic relationships. Our competitors may be more successful
than we are in establishing or expanding relationships with third parties or may provide incentives to third parties to favor their products over our solution.
These strategic partners may cease to recommend our solution to prospective clients due to actual or perceived lack of features, technological or security
issues or failures, reputational concerns, economic incentives, or other factors, which would harm our business, financial condition and operations.
Furthermore, there has and continues to be a significant amount of consolidation in our industry and adjacent industries, and if our partners are acquired, fail
to work effectively with us or go out of business, they may no longer support or promote our solution, or may be less effective in doing so, which could harm
our business, financial condition and operations. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our strategic relationships with third parties, or these
partners fail to recommend our solution, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenues could be impaired and our operating results may
suffer. Even if we are successful, we cannot assure you that these relationships will result in increased client usage of our solution or increased revenue.
In addition, identifying new partners, and negotiating and documenting relationships with them, requires significant time and resources. As the
complexity of our solution and our third-party relationships increases, the management of those relationships and the negotiation of contractual terms
sufficient to protect our rights and limit our potential liabilities will become more complicated. We also license technology from certain third parties,
including through OEM relationships. Certain of these agreements permit either party to terminate all or a portion of the relationship without cause at any
time and for any reason. If one of these agreements is terminated by the other party, we would have to find an alternative source or develop new technology
ourselves, either of which could cause delays in our ability to offer our solution or certain product features to our clients, result in increased expense and harm
our business. Our inability to successfully manage and maintain these complex relationships or negotiate sufficient contractual terms could harm our
business.
We are establishing a network of master agents and resellers to sell our solution; our failure to effectively develop, manage, and maintain this
network could materially harm our revenues.
We are establishing a network of master sales agents, which provide sales leads, and resellers, which sell our solution to new and existing clients. We
expect that this network will enable us to attract additional clients. We
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expect our resellers will also assist us in expanding internationally. These master agents and resellers sell, or may in the future decide to sell, solutions for our
competitors. Our competitors may be able to cause our current or potential master agents or resellers to favor their services over ours, either through financial
incentives, technological innovation, by offering a broader array of services to these service providers or otherwise, which could reduce the effectiveness of
our use of these third parties. If we fail to maintain relationships with current master agents and resellers, fail to develop relationships with new master agents
and resellers in new and existing markets, if we fail to manage, train, or provide appropriate incentives to our existing master agents and resellers, or if our
master agents and resellers are not successful in their sales efforts, sales of our subscriptions may decrease or not grow at an appropriate rate and our operating
results could be harmed.
In addition, identifying new resellers, and negotiating and documenting relationships with them, requires significant time and resources. As the
complexity of our solution and our reseller relationships increases, the management of those relationships and the negotiation of contractual terms sufficient
to protect our rights and limit our potential liabilities will become more complicated. Our inability to successfully manage these complex relationships or
negotiate sufficient contractual terms could harm our business.
The loss of one or more of our key clients, or a failure to renew our subscription agreements with one or more of our key clients, could harm our ability to
market our solution.
We rely on our reputation and recommendations from key clients in order to market and sell our solution. The loss of any of our key clients, or a failure
of some of them to renew or to continue to recommend our solution, could have a significant impact on our revenues, reputation and our ability to obtain new
clients. In addition, acquisitions of our clients could lead to cancellation of our contracts with those clients, thereby reducing the number of our existing and
potential clients.
Our clients may fail to comply with the terms of their agreements, necessitating action by us to collect payment, or may terminate their subscriptions for
our solution.
If clients fail to pay us under the terms of our agreements or fail to comply with the terms of our agreements, including compliance with regulatory
requirements, we may terminate clients, lose revenue, be unable to collect amounts due to us, be subject to legal or regulatory action and incur costs in
enforcing the terms of our contracts, including litigation. Some of our clients may seek bankruptcy protection or other similar relief and fail to pay amounts
due to us, seek reimbursement for amounts already paid, or pay those amounts more slowly, either of which could harm our operating results, financial
position and cash flow.
We sell our solution to larger organizations that require longer sales and implementation cycles and often demand more configuration and integration
services or customized features and functions that we may not offer, any of which could delay or prevent these sales and harm our growth rates, business
and operating results.
As we continue to target our sales efforts at larger organizations, we face greater costs, longer sales and implementation cycles and less predictability in
closing sales. These larger organizations typically require more configuration and integration services, which increases our upfront investment in sales and
deployment efforts, with no guarantee that these clients will subscribe to our solution or increase the scope of their subscription. Furthermore, with larger
organizations, we must provide greater levels of education regarding the use and benefits of our solution to a broader group of people. As a result of these
factors, we must devote a significant amount of sales support and professional services resources to individual clients and prospective clients, thereby
increasing the cost and time required to complete sales. Our typical sales cycle for larger organizations is four to six months, but can be significantly longer,
and we expect that our average sales cycle may increase as sales to larger organizations continue to grow as a percentage of our business. Longer sales cycles
could cause our operating and financial results to be less predictable and to fluctuate from period to period. In addition, many of our clients that are larger
organizations initially deploy our solution to support only a portion of their contact center agents. Our success depends on our ability to increase the number
of agent seats and the number of applications utilized by larger organizations over time. There is no guarantee that these clients will increase their
subscriptions for our solution. If we do not expand our initial relationships with larger organizations, the return on our investments in sales and deployment
efforts for these clients will decrease and our business may suffer.
Furthermore, we may not be able to provide the configuration and integration services that larger organizations typically require. For example, our
solution does not currently permit clients to modify our software code, but instead requires them to use our set of application programming interfaces, or
APIs. If prospective clients require customized features or functions that we do not offer, and that would be difficult for them to deploy
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themselves, they will need to use our services or third-party service providers or we may lose sales opportunities with larger organizations and our business
could suffer.
Because a significant percentage of our revenue is derived from existing clients, downturns or upturns in new sales will not be immediately reflected in our
operating results and may be difficult to discern.
We generally recognize subscription revenue from clients monthly as services are delivered. As a result, a significant percentage of the subscription
revenue we report in each quarter is derived from existing clients. Consequently, a decline in new subscriptions in any single quarter will likely have only a
small impact on our revenue results for that quarter. However, the cumulative impact of such declines could negatively impact our business and results of
operations in future quarters. Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in sales and market acceptance of our solution, and potential changes in our
pricing policies or renewal rates, will typically not be reflected in our results of operations until future periods. We also may be unable to adjust our cost
structure to reflect the changes in revenue, resulting in lower margins and earnings. In addition, our subscription model makes it difficult for us to rapidly
increase our revenue through additional sales in any period, as revenue from new clients will be recognized over time as services are delivered. For example,
many of our clients initially deploy our solution to support only a portion of their contact center agents. Any increase to our revenue and the value of these
existing client relationships will only be reflected in our results of operations if and when these clients increase the number of agent seats and the number of
components of our solution over time.
We rely on third-party telecommunications and internet service providers to provide our clients and their customers with telecommunication services and
connectivity to our cloud contact center software and any failure by these service providers to provide reliable services could subject us to claims for
credits or damages, among other things.
We rely on third-party telecommunication service providers to provide our clients and their customers with telecommunication services. These
telephony services include the public switched telephone network, or PSTN, telephone numbers, call termination and origination services, and local number
portability for our clients. In addition, we depend on our internet bandwidth suppliers to provide uninterrupted and error-free service through their
telecommunications networks. We exercise little control over these third-party providers, which increases our vulnerability to problems with the services they
provide. If any of these service providers fail to provide reliable services, suffer outages, or terminate or increase the cost of the services that we and our
clients depend on, we may be required to switch to another service provider. Delays caused by switching our technology to another service provider, if
available, and qualifying this new service provider could materially harm our client relationships, business, financial condition and operating results.
Due to our reliance on these service providers, when problems occur, it may be difficult to identify the source of the problem. Service disruption or
outages, whether caused by our service, the products or services of our third-party service providers, or our clients’ or their customers’ equipment and systems,
may result in loss of market acceptance of our solution and any necessary repairs or other remedial actions may force us to incur significant costs and
expenses. Any failure on the part of third-party service providers to achieve or maintain expected performance levels, stability and security could harm our
relationships with our clients, result in claims for credits or damages, damage our reputation, significantly reduce client demand for our solution and seriously
harm our financial condition and operating results.
We depend on data centers operated by third parties and any disruption in the operation of these facilities could harm our business.
We host our solution at data centers located in Santa Clara, California; Atlanta, Georgia; Slough, England and Amsterdam, the Netherlands. Any failure
or downtime in one of our data center facilities could affect a significant percentage of our clients. While we control and have access to our servers and all of
the components of our network that are located in our external data centers, we do not control the operation of these facilities. The owners of our data center
facilities have no obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we are unable to renew these agreements on
commercially reasonable terms, or if one of our data center operators is acquired, closes, suffers financial difficulty or is unable to meet our growing capacity
needs, we may be required to transfer our servers and other infrastructure to new data center facilities, and we may incur significant costs and service
interruptions in connection with doing so.
Our data centers are subject to various points of failure. Problems with cooling equipment, generators, uninterruptible power supply, routers, switches,
or other equipment, whether or not within our control, could result
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in service interruptions for our clients as well as equipment damage. Our data centers are subject to disasters such as earthquakes, floods, fires, hurricanes, acts
of terrorism, sabotage, break-ins, acts of vandalism and other events, which could cause service interruptions or the operators of these data centers to close
their facilities for an extended period of time or permanently. The destruction or impairment of any of our data center facilities could result in significant
downtime for our solution and the loss of client data. Because our ability to attract and retain clients depends on our providing clients with highly reliable
service, even minor interruptions in our service could harm our business, revenues and reputation. Additionally, in connection with the continuing expansion
of our existing data center facilities, there is an increased risk that service interruptions may occur as a result of server addition, relocation or other issues.
Our data centers are also subject to increased power costs. We may not be able to pass on any increase in power costs to our clients, which could reduce
our operating margins.
Shifts over time or from quarter-to-quarter in the mix of sizes or types of organizations that purchase our solution or changes in the components of our
solution purchased by our clients could affect our gross margins and operating results.
Our strategy is to sell our solution to both smaller and larger organizations. Our gross margins can vary depending on numerous factors related to the
implementation and use of our solution, including the features and number of agent seats purchased by our clients and the level of usage and professional
services and support required by our clients. For example, our larger clients typically require more professional services and because our professional services
offerings typically have negative margins, any increase in sales of professional services could harm our gross margins and operating results. We also have
lower margins on our usage revenues. Sales to larger organizations may also entail longer sales cycles and more significant selling efforts. Selling to smaller
clients may involve smaller contract sizes, fewer opportunities to sell additional services, a higher likelihood of contract terminations, fewer potential agent
seats and greater credit risk and uncertainty. If the mix of organizations that purchase our solution, or the mix of solution components purchased by our
clients, changes unfavorably, our revenues and gross margins could decrease and our operating results could be harmed.
We are in the process of expanding our international operations, which exposes us to significant risks.
To date, we have not generated significant revenues from outside of the U.S., Canada and the U.K. However, we already have significant operations
outside these countries and we expect to grow our international presence in the future. The future success of our business will depend, in part, on our ability
to expand our operations and customer base worldwide. Operating in international markets requires significant resources and management attention and will
subject us to regulatory, economic, and political risks that are different from those in the U.S. Due to our limited experience with international operations and
developing and managing sales and distribution channels in international markets, our international expansion efforts may not be successful.
We have a history of losses and we may be unable to achieve or sustain profitability.
We have incurred significant losses in each period since our inception in 2001, with the exceptions of the three months ended December 31, 2016 and
September 30, 2017. We incurred net income of $0.9 million and net loss of $8.3 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017,
respectively, and a net loss of $11.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. As of September 30, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of $174.8
million. These losses and our accumulated deficit reflect the substantial investments we have made to develop our solution and acquire new clients. We
expect the dollar amount of our costs and expenses to increase in the future as revenue increases, although at a slower rate. We expect our losses to continue
for the foreseeable future as we continue to develop and expand our business. Furthermore, to the extent we are successful in increasing our client base, we
may also incur increased losses because costs associated with acquiring clients are generally incurred up front, while revenues are recognized over the course
of the client relationship. We also have negative gross margins on our professional services, which are expected to continue in the medium term. In addition,
as a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. Our historical or recent growth in revenues is not necessarily indicative of
our future performance. Accordingly, we cannot assure that we will achieve profitability in the future nor that, if we do become profitable, we will sustain
profitability.
41

Table of Contents
If the market for cloud contact center software solutions develops more slowly than we expect or declines, our business could be harmed.
The cloud contact center software market is not as mature as the market for legacy on-premise contact center systems, and it is uncertain whether cloud
contact center solutions will achieve and sustain high levels of client demand and market acceptance. Our success will depend to a substantial extent on the
widespread adoption of cloud contact center software solutions as a replacement for legacy on-premise systems. Many larger organizations have invested
substantial technical, personnel and financial resources to integrate legacy on-premise contact center systems into their businesses and, therefore, may be
reluctant or unwilling to migrate to cloud contact center solutions such as ours. It is difficult to predict client adoption rates and demand for our solution, the
future growth rate and size of the cloud contact center software market, or the entry of competitive products and services. The expansion of the cloud contact
center software market depends on a number of factors, including the refresh rate for legacy on-premise systems, cost, performance and perceived value
associated with cloud contact center software solutions, as well as the ability of providers of cloud contact center software solutions to address security,
stability and privacy concerns. If we or other cloud contact center solution providers experience security incidents, loss of client data, disruptions in service
or other problems, the market for cloud contact center software products, solutions and services as a whole, including our solution, may be harmed. If cloud
contact center software solutions do not achieve widespread adoption, or there is a reduction in demand for such solutions caused by a lack of client
acceptance, enhanced product offerings from on-premise providers, technological challenges, weakening economic conditions, security or privacy concerns,
competing technologies and products, decreases in corporate spending or otherwise, it could result in decreased revenues and our business could be harmed.
Our recent growth makes it difficult to evaluate and predict our current business and future prospects.
While we have been in existence since 2001, much of our growth has occurred in recent years. Our recent growth may make it difficult for investors to
evaluate our current business and our future prospects. We have encountered and will continue to encounter risks and difficulties frequently experienced by
growing companies in rapidly changing industries, including increasing and unforeseen expenses as we continue to grow our business.
Our ability to forecast our future operating results is limited and subject to a number of uncertainties, including our ability to predict revenue levels,
and plan for and model future growth. We have encountered and will continue to encounter risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing
companies in rapidly changing industries, such as the risks and uncertainties described in this report. If our assumptions regarding these risks and
uncertainties, which we use to plan our business, are incorrect or change due to adjustments in our markets or our competitors and their product offerings, or if
we do not address these risks successfully, our operating and financial results could differ materially from our expectations and our business could suffer.
If our solution fails, or is perceived to fail, to perform properly or if it contains technical defects, our reputation could be harmed, our market share may
decline and we could be subject to product liability claims.
Our solution may contain undetected errors or defects that may result in failures or otherwise cause our solution to fail to perform in accordance with
client expectations. Moreover, our clients could incorrectly implement or inadvertently misuse our products, which could result in client dissatisfaction and
harm the perceived utility of our products and our brand. Because our clients use our solution for mission-critical aspects of their business, any real or
perceived errors or defects in, or other performance problems with, our solution may damage our clients’ businesses and could significantly harm our
reputation. If that occurs, we could lose future sales, or our existing clients could elect to cancel our solution, seek payment credits, seek damages against us,
or delay or withhold payment to us, which could result in reduced revenues, an increase in our provision for uncollectible accounts and service credits, an
increase in collection cycles for accounts receivable, and harm our financial results. In addition, since telecommunications billing is inherently complex and
requires highly sophisticated information systems to administer, our billing system may experience errors or we may improperly operate the system, which
could result in the system incorrectly calculating the fees owed by our clients or related taxes and administrative fees. Clients also may make indemnification
or warranty claims against us, which could result in significant expense and risk of litigation. Product performance problems could result in loss of market
share, failure to achieve market acceptance and the diversion of development resources.
Any product liability, intellectual property, warranty or other claims against us could damage our reputation and relationships with our clients, and
could require us to spend significant time and money in litigation or pay significant settlements or damages. Although we maintain general liability
insurance, including coverage for errors and omissions, this coverage may not be sufficient to cover liabilities resulting from such claims. Also, our insurers
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may disclaim coverage. Our liability insurance also may not continue to be available to us on reasonable terms, in sufficient amounts, or at all. Any contract
or product liability claims successfully brought against us would harm our business.
We are subject to many hazards and operational risks that can disrupt our business, some of which may not be insured or fully covered by insurance.
Our operations are subject to many hazards inherent in the cloud contact center software business, including:
• damage to third-party and our infrastructure and data centers, related equipment and surrounding properties caused by earthquakes, hurricanes,
tornadoes, floods, fires and other natural disasters, explosions and acts of terrorism;
• security breaches resulting in loss or disclosure of confidential client and customer data and potential liability to clients and non-client third parties
for such disclosures;
• inadvertent damage from third parties; and
• other hazards that could also result in suspension of operations, personal injury and even loss of life.
These risks could result in substantial losses and the curtailment or suspension of our operations. For example, in the event of a major earthquake along
the West Coast of the United States (where our corporate headquarters and one of our data centers are located), hurricane, tropical storm or severe weather in
the southeastern United States (where our other U.S. data center is located) or catastrophic events such as fire, power loss, telecommunications failure, cyberattack, war or terrorist attack, we may be unable to continue our operations and may endure system and service interruptions, reputational harm, delays in
product development, breaches of data security and loss of critical data, any of which could harm our business and operating results.
We are not insured against all claims, events or accidents that might occur. If a significant accident or event occurs that is not fully insured, if we fail to
recover all anticipated insurance proceeds for significant accidents or events for which we are insured, or if we or our data center providers fail to reopen
facilities damaged by such accidents or events, our operations and financial condition could be harmed. In addition to being denied coverage under existing
insurance policies, we may not be able to maintain or obtain insurance of the type and amount we desire at reasonable rates.
The contact center software solutions market is subject to rapid technological change, and we must develop and sell incremental and new products in
order to maintain and grow our business.
The contact center software solutions market is characterized by rapid changes in client requirements, frequent introductions of new and enhanced
products and features and continuing and rapid technological advancement. To compete successfully, we must continue to design, develop, manufacture and
sell new and enhanced contact center products, applications and features that provide increasingly higher capabilities, performance and stability at lower
cost. If we are unable to develop or acquire new features for our existing solution or new applications that achieve market acceptance or that keep pace with
technological developments, our business would be harmed. For example, we are focused on enhancing the reliability, features and functionality of our
contact center solution to enhance its utility to our clients, particularly larger clients with complex, dynamic and global operations. The success of these
enhancements depends on many factors, including timely development, introduction and market acceptance, as well as our ability to transition our existing
clients to these new products, applications and features. Failure in this regard may significantly impair our revenue growth. In addition, because our solution
is designed to operate on a variety of systems, we will need to continuously modify and enhance our solution to keep pace with changes in hardware,
operating systems, the increasing trend toward multi-channel communications and other changes to software technologies. We may not be successful in
developing or acquiring these modifications and enhancements or bringing them to market in a timely fashion. Furthermore, uncertainties about the timing
and nature of new network platforms or technologies, or modifications to existing platforms or technologies, could delay introduction of our solution and
increase our research and development expenses. Any failure of our solution to operate effectively with future network platforms and technologies could
reduce the demand for our solution, result in client dissatisfaction and harm our business.
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Our ability to continue to enhance our solution is dependent on adequate research and development resources. If we are not able to adequately fund our
research and development efforts, we may not be able to compete effectively and our business and operating results may be harmed.
In order to remain competitive, we must continue to develop new solution offerings and enhancements to our existing cloud contact center software.
Maintaining adequate research and development personnel and resources to meet the demands of the market is essential. If we are unable to develop
products, applications or features internally due to constraints, such as high employee turnover, insufficient cash, inability to hire sufficient research and
development personnel or a lack of other research and development resources, we may miss market opportunities. Furthermore, many of our competitors
expend considerably greater amounts on their research and development programs than we do, and those that do not may be acquired by larger companies
that would allocate greater resources to our competitors’ research and development programs. Our failure to devote adequate research and development
resources or compete effectively with the research and development programs of our competitors could harm our business.
If we are unable to maintain the compatibility of our software with other products and technologies, our business would be harmed.
Our clients often integrate our solution with their business applications, particularly third-party CRM solutions. These third-party providers or their
partners could alter their products so that our solution no longer integrates well with them, or they could delay or deny our access to technology releases that
allow us to adapt our solution to integrate with their products in a timely fashion. If we cannot adapt our solution to changes in complementary technology
deployed by our clients, it may significantly impair our ability to compete effectively.
Our business could be harmed if our clients are not satisfied with the professional services and technical support provided by us or our partners.
Our business depends on our ability to satisfy our clients, not only with respect to our solution, but also with the professional services and technical
support that are required for our clients to implement and use our solution to address their business needs. Professional services and technical support may be
performed by our own staff or, in a select subset of cases, by third parties. We will need to continue to expand and optimize our professional services and
technical support in order to keep up with new client installations and ongoing service, which will take time and expense to implement. Identifying and
recruiting qualified service personnel and training them in our solution is difficult and competitive and requires significant time, expense and attention. We
may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases in client demand for support services. We also may be unable to modify the
format of our support services or change our pricing to compete with changes in support services provided by our competitors. Increased client demand for
these services, without corresponding revenues, could increase our costs and harm our operating results. If a client is not satisfied with the deployment and
ongoing services performed by us or a third party, then we could lose clients, miss opportunities to expand our business with these clients, incur additional
costs, or lose, or suffer reduced margins on, our service revenue, any of which could damage our ability to grow our business. In addition, negative publicity
related to our professional services and technical support, regardless of its accuracy, may damage our business by affecting our ability to compete for new
business with current and prospective clients.
Sales to clients outside the United States or with international operations and our international sales efforts and operations support expose us to risks
inherent in international sales and operations.
A key element of our growth strategy is to expand our international sales efforts and develop a worldwide client base. Because of our limited
experience with international sales, our international expansion may not be successful and may not produce the return on investment we expect. To date, we
have realized only a small portion of our revenues from clients outside the United States.
Our international employees are primarily located in the Philippines, where technical support, training and other professional services are performed,
and Russia, where software development services are performed. We have also started to increase our sales, marketing and support personnel in the U.K. to
maintain and support our European data centers and to provide service and support to clients in the European Union. Operating in international markets
requires significant resources and management attention and subjects us to intellectual property, regulatory, economic and political risks that are different
from those in the United States. As we increase our international sales efforts and continue our other international operations, we will face risks in doing
business internationally that could harm our business, including:
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the need to establish and protect our brand in international markets;
the need to localize and adapt our solution for specific countries, including translation into foreign languages and associated costs and expenses;
difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, particularly hiring and training qualified sales and service personnel;
the need to make implementations, and offer customer care, in various native languages;
different pricing environments, longer sales and accounts receivable payment cycles and collections issues;
weaker protection for intellectual property and other legal rights than in the U.S. and practical difficulties in enforcing intellectual property and
other rights outside of the U.S.;
increased risk of piracy, counterfeiting and other misappropriation of our intellectual property in our locations outside the U.S.;
new and different sources of competition;
general economic conditions in international markets;
fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies, which may make our solution more expensive in other countries or may increase
our costs, impacting our operating results when translated into U.S. dollars;
compliance with customs duties, tariffs and other international trade complexities;
compliance challenges related to the complexity of multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations, including employment,
tax, telecommunications and telemarketing laws and regulations;
privacy and data protection laws and regulations that are complex, expensive to comply with and may require that client data be stored and
processed in a designated territory;
increased risk of international telecom fraud;
laws and business practices favoring local competitors;
compliance with laws and regulations for foreign operations, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act and other anticorruption laws, import and export control laws, tariffs, trade barriers, economic sanctions and regulatory or contractual limitations on our ability to
sell our solution in certain foreign markets, and the risks and costs of non-compliance;
increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;
restrictions or taxes on the transfer of funds;
adverse tax consequences; and
unstable economic and political conditions.

These risks could harm our international operations, increase our operating costs and hinder our ability to grow our international business and,
consequently, our overall business and results of operations. In addition, if the political and military situation in Russia and the Ukraine, or the relationship
between Russia and the United States, significantly worsens, or if either Russia or the United States imposes significant new economic sanctions or
restrictions on doing business, and we are restricted or precluded from continuing our software development operations in Russia, our costs could increase,
and our product development efforts, business and results of operations could be significantly harmed.
In addition, compliance with laws and regulations applicable to our international operations increases our cost of doing business outside the United
States. We may be unable to keep current with changes in foreign government requirements and laws as they change from time to time. Failure to comply
with these regulations could harm our business. In many countries outside the United States it is common for others to engage in business practices that are
prohibited by our internal policies and procedures or U.S. or international regulations applicable to us. Although we have implemented policies and
procedures designed to ensure compliance with these laws and policies, there can be no assurance that all of our employees, contractors, strategic partners and
agents will comply with these laws and policies. Violations of laws or key control policies by our employees, contractors, strategic partners or agents could
result in delays in revenue recognition, financial reporting misstatements, fines, penalties, or prohibitions on selling our solution, any of which could harm
our business.
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We depend on our senior management team and the loss of one or more key employees or an inability to attract and retain highly skilled employees could
harm our business and results of operations.
Our success largely depends upon the continued services of our key executive officers. We also rely on our leadership team in the areas of research and
development, marketing, sales, services and general and administrative functions, and on mission-critical individual contributors. From time to time, there
may be changes in our executive management team resulting from the hiring or departure of executives, which could disrupt our business. The loss of one or
more of our executive officers or key employees could seriously harm our business. We currently do not maintain key person life insurance policies on any of
our employees.
To execute our growth plan, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel and we may incur significant costs to do so. Competition for these
personnel is intense, especially for engineers highly experienced in designing and developing cloud software and for senior sales executives. We have, from
time to time, experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining employees with appropriate qualifications. We invest
significant time and expense in training our employees, which increases their value to competitors who may seek to recruit them and increases our costs. If we
fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, our business and future growth prospects would be harmed. Many of the
companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we have. If we hire employees from competitors or other companies,
their former employers may attempt to assert that these employees or we have breached legal obligations, resulting in a diversion of our time and resources
and, potentially, damages.
Volatility or lack of performance in the trading price of our common stock may also affect our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel because
job candidates and existing employees often emphasize the value of the stock awards they receive in connection with their employment when considering
whether to accept or continue employment. If the perceived value of our stock awards is low or declines, it may harm our ability to recruit and retain highly
skilled employees.
If we fail to grow our marketing capabilities and develop widespread brand awareness cost effectively, our business may suffer.
Our ability to increase our client base and achieve broader market acceptance of our cloud contact center software solution will depend to a significant
extent on our ability to expand our marketing operations. We plan to continue to dedicate significant resources to our marketing programs, including internet
advertising, digital marketing campaigns, social marketing, trade shows, industry events, co-marketing with strategic partners and telemarketing. The
effectiveness of our online advertising has varied over time and may vary in the future due to competition for key search terms, changes in search engine use
and changes in the search algorithms used by major search engines. All of these efforts will continue to require us to invest significant financial and other
resources in our marketing efforts. Our business will be seriously harmed if our efforts and expenditures do not generate a proportionate increase in revenue.
In addition, we believe that developing and maintaining widespread awareness of our brand in a cost-effective manner, both in the United States and
internationally, is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our solution and attracting new clients. Brand promotion activities may not generate client
awareness or increase revenues, and even if they do, any increase in revenues may occur after the expense has been occurred, and may not offset the costs and
expenses of building our brand. If we fail to successfully promote, maintain and protect our brand, or incur substantial costs and expenses, we may fail to
attract or retain clients necessary to realize a sufficient return on our brand-building efforts, or to achieve the widespread brand awareness that is critical for
broad client adoption of our solution.
We may not be able to secure additional financing on favorable terms, or at all, to meet our future capital needs.
To date, we have financed our operations, primarily through sales of our solution, lease facilities and the net proceeds from our equity and debt
financings. We do not know when or if our operations will generate sufficient cash to fund our ongoing operations. In the future, we may require additional
capital to respond to business opportunities, challenges, acquisitions, a decline in sales, increased regulatory obligations or unforeseen circumstances and
may engage in equity or debt financings or enter into credit facilities.
We have a substantial amount of debt. As of September 30, 2017, we had approximately $32.6 million in principal amount outstanding under our New
Revolving Credit Facility entered into on August 1, 2016 and a $0.5 million FCC civil penalty payable to the U.S. Treasury. See Note 5 of the notes to
condensed consolidated financial statements.
46

Table of Contents
Our New Revolving Credit Facility is collateralized by substantially all of our assets and contains a number of covenants that limit our ability to,
among other things, sell assets, make acquisitions or investments, incur debt, grant liens, pay dividends, enter into transactions with our affiliates and use all
of our available cash on hand and may prevent us from engaging in acts that may be in our best long-term interests. The amount of our current total debt and
the collateral pledged under the New Revolving Credit Facility and the covenants to which we are bound may prevent us from being able to timely secure
additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms, or at all, or to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. Any debt financing
obtained by us in the future would cause us to incur additional debt service expenses and could include additional restrictive covenants relating to our
capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and pursue business
opportunities. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant
dilution in their percentage ownership of our company, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of
holders of our common stock. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue
to grow and support our business and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited.
Adverse economic conditions may harm our business.
Our business depends on the overall demand for cloud contact center software solutions and on the economic health of our current and prospective
clients. In general, worldwide economic conditions remain unstable. In addition to the United States and Canada, we plan to market and sell our solution in
Europe, Asia and other international markets. If economic conditions, including currency exchange rates, in these areas and other key potential markets for
our solution continue to remain uncertain or deteriorate, clients may delay or reduce their contact center and overall information technology spending. If our
clients experience economic hardship, this could reduce the demand for our solution, delay and lengthen sales cycles, lower prices for our solution, and lead
to slower growth or even a decline in our revenues, operating results and cash flows.
We may acquire other companies or technologies or be the target of strategic transactions, which could divert our management’s attention, result in
additional dilution to our stockholders and otherwise disrupt our operations and harm our operating results.
We may acquire or invest in businesses, applications or technologies that we believe could complement or expand our solution, enhance our technical
capabilities or otherwise offer growth opportunities. The pursuit of potential acquisitions may divert the attention of management, and cause us to incur
various costs and expenses in identifying, investigating and pursuing acquisitions, whether or not they are consummated. We may not be able to identify
desirable acquisition targets or be successful in entering into an agreement with any particular target.
To date, the growth in our business has been primarily organic, and we have limited experience in acquiring other businesses, having only completed
one small acquisition. In any future acquisitions, we may not be able to successfully integrate acquired personnel, operations and technologies, or effectively
manage the combined business following the acquisition. We also may not achieve the anticipated benefits from our future acquired businesses due to a
number of factors, including:
• inability to integrate or benefit from acquisitions in a profitable manner;
• unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with the acquisition, including legal claims arising from the activities of companies we acquire;
• acquisition-related costs;
• difficulty converting the clients of the acquired business to our solution and contract terms, including due to disparities in the revenue, licensing,
support or professional services model of the acquired company;
• difficulty integrating the accounting systems, operations and personnel of the acquired business;
• difficulties and additional costs and expenses associated with supporting legacy products and the hosting infrastructure of the acquired business;
• diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;
• harm to our existing relationships with our partners and clients as a result of the acquisition;
• the loss of our or the acquired business’s key employees;
• diversion of resources that could have been more effectively deployed in other parts of our business; and
• use of substantial portions of our available cash to consummate the acquisition.
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In addition, a significant portion of the purchase price of companies we acquire may be allocated to acquired goodwill and other intangible assets,
which must be assessed for impairment at least annually. In the future, if our acquisitions do not yield expected returns, we may be required to take charges to
our operating results based on this impairment assessment process, which could harm our results of operations.
Acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of equity securities, the use of our available cash, or the incurrence of debt, which could harm our
operating results. In addition, if an acquired business fails to meet our expectations, our operating results, business and financial condition may suffer.
In addition, we may receive inquiries relating to potential strategic transactions, including from third parties who may seek to acquire us. We will
continue to consider and discuss such transactions as we deem appropriate. Such potential transactions may divert the attention of management, and cause us
to incur various costs and expenses in investigating and evaluating such transactions, whether or not they are consummated.
If we are unable to maintain and further develop effective internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock may decrease.
As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such internal
controls. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or Section 404, requires that we evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting and provide a management report on our internal control over financial reporting. However, our independent registered public
accounting firm has not been required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 to date as
we have been an “emerging growth company,” as defined by The Jumpstart Our Businesses Act of 2012, or The JOBS Act. Our independent registered public
accounting firm will be required to provide this attestation beginning with our annual report for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017, which has and will
continue to increase cost and expense.
If we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our internal controls are
effective. A “material weakness” is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
If we have material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we may not detect errors on a timely basis and our financial statements
may be materially misstated. If we identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, if we are unable to comply with the
requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner, if we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective or if our independent
registered public accounting firm is unable to attest that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, investors may lose confidence in the
accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock could decrease. We could also become subject to stockholder
or other third-party litigation as well as investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which
could require additional financial and management resources and could result in fines, trading suspensions or other remedies.
We will no longer be an emerging growth company after the end of this fiscal year and the additional requirements we must comply with may strain our
resources and divert management’s attention from other business concerns.
We will be an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act only until the end of this fiscal year. During this period, we may take advantage
of certain exemptions from reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies. Beginning at the end of this fiscal year, we will no longer be
an emerging growth company, and compliance with these additional laws, rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs, make
some activities more difficult, time consuming or costly and increase demand on our systems and resources. As a result, management’s attention may be
diverted from other business concerns and our costs and expenses will increase, which could harm our business and operating results. We may also need to
hire more employees in the future or engage additional outside consultants to comply with these requirements, which will increase our costs and expenses.
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Changes in financial accounting standards or practices may cause adverse, unexpected financial reporting fluctuations and affect our reported operating
results.
U.S. GAAP is subject to interpretation by the FASB, the SEC and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles.
A change in accounting standards or practices can have a significant effect on our reported results and may even affect our financial statements completed
before the change is effective. New accounting pronouncements and varying interpretations of accounting pronouncements have occurred and will occur in
the future. Changes to existing rules or the questioning of current practices may harm our reported financial results or the way we account for or conduct our
business.
For example, we recognize revenue in accordance with ASU 2009-13, Revenue Recognition (Topic 605) — Multiple-Deliverable Revenue
Arrangements — a Consensus of the Emerging Issues Task Force (formerly known as EITF 08-01). In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue
from Contracts with Customers, a new standard on the recognition of revenue from contracts with customers, which includes a single set of rules and criteria
for revenue recognition to be used across all industries. The Company will adopt this new standard on January 1, 2018 using a modified retrospective
approach. As a result of future interpretations or applications of existing and new accounting standards, including ASU 2014-09 and ASU 2009-13, the
timing of our revenue and commission expense recognition will change, which will cause fluctuations in our operating results. See Note 1 of the notes to
condensed consolidated financial statements for information regarding the effect of new accounting pronouncements on our financial statements.
Additionally, any difficulties in implementing these pronouncements could cause us to fail to meet our financial reporting obligations, which could result in
regulatory discipline and harm investors’ confidence in us.
In addition, certain factors have in the past and may in the future cause us to defer recognition of revenues. For example, the inclusion in our client
contracts of material non-standard terms, such as acceptance criteria, could require the deferral of revenue. To the extent that such contracts become more
prevalent in the future our revenue may be harmed.
Because of these factors and other specific requirements under U.S. GAAP for revenue recognition, we must have precise terms and conditions in our
arrangements in order to recognize revenue when we deliver our solution or perform our professional services. Negotiation of mutually acceptable terms and
conditions can extend our sales cycle, and we may accept terms and conditions that do not permit revenue recognition at the time of delivery.
The results of the United Kingdom’s referendum on withdrawal from the European Union may have a negative effect on global economic conditions,
financial markets and our business.
In June 2016, a majority of voters in the United Kingdom elected to withdraw from the European Union in a national referendum, referred to as Brexit.
The referendum was advisory, and the terms of any withdrawal are subject to a negotiation period that could last at least two years after the government of the
United Kingdom formally initiated the withdrawal process on March 29, 2017. This election to withdraw has created significant uncertainty about the future
relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union, including with respect to the laws and regulations that will apply as the United Kingdom
and the European Union determine which European Union laws to replace or replicate after the effectiveness of the withdrawal. The referendum has also
given rise to calls for the governments of other European Union member states to consider withdrawal.
Brexit has harmed and may continue to harm global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets. For example, Brexit introduced
significant volatility in global stock markets and currency exchange rate fluctuations that resulted in the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against foreign
currencies in which we conduct business. This volatility will likely continue while the United Kingdom and the European Union negotiate the terms of the
withdrawal, as well as after the withdrawal takes effect. The strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies will make our solution more expensive
to international clients and may harm our international sales. Brexit could also cause disruptions to and create uncertainty surrounding our business,
including affecting our relationships with our existing and future clients, owners of our data center facilities in the U.K. and the Netherlands and our data
center partners' ability to retain and hire qualified employees, which could harm our business, business opportunities, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.
We may not be able to utilize a significant portion of our net operating loss or research tax credit carryforwards, which could harm our profitability and
financial condition.
As of December 31, 2016, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards due to prior period losses of $142.1 million and $79.9 million,
respectively, which if not utilized will begin to expire in 2024 for federal
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purposes and 2017 for state purposes. As of December 31, 2016, we also had research credit carryforwards for federal and California state tax purposes of
approximately $2.5 million and $2.1 million. If not utilized, the federal research credit carryforwards will begin to expire in 2022. If we are unable to generate
sufficient taxable income to utilize our net operating loss and research tax credit carryforwards, these carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable
to offset future income tax liabilities, which could harm our profitability and financial condition.
In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or IRC Section 382, our ability to utilize net operating loss
carryforwards or other tax attributes, such as research tax credits, in any taxable year may be limited if we experience an “ownership change.” An IRC
Section 382 “ownership change” generally occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of our stock increase their
ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. Similar rules may apply under state
tax laws. We experienced an ownership change prior to 2014 and the disclosed amounts of our net operating losses and potential tax credits have been
reduced for the resulting effect of the IRC Section 382 limitations. Subsequent or future issuances or sales of our stock (including certain transactions
involving our stock that are outside of our control) could cause an “ownership change” again, which would impose an annual limit on the amount of preownership change net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes we can use to reduce our taxable income, potentially increasing and accelerating
our liability for income taxes, and also potentially causing those tax attributes to expire unused. It is possible that such an ownership change could materially
reduce our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards or other tax attributes to offset taxable income, which could require us to pay more income taxes
than if we were able to fully utilize our net operating loss carryforwards and harm our profitability.
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Any failure to protect our intellectual property rights could impair our ability to protect our proprietary technology and our brand.
Our success and ability to compete depend in part upon our intellectual property. As of September 30, 2017, our intellectual property portfolio
included seven registered U.S. trademarks, 10 issued U.S. patents, two pending U.S. patent applications and one registered U.S. copyright. As
of September 30, 2017, we also had two issued patents, six pending patent applications and 11 limited trademark registrations outside the U.S. The expiration
dates of our issued patents range from 2030 to 2034. We primarily rely on copyright, trade secret and trademark laws, trade secret protection and
confidentiality or license agreements with our employees, clients, partners and others to protect our intellectual property rights. However, the steps we take to
protect our intellectual property rights may be inadequate. We may not be able to obtain any further patents or trademarks, our current patents could be
invalidated or our competitors could design their products around our patented technology, and our pending applications may not result in the issuance of
patents or trademarks. We have pending patent applications and limited trademark registrations outside the U.S., and we may have to expend significant
resources to obtain additional protection as we expand our international operations. Furthermore, legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and
scope of protection of intellectual property rights in other countries, including Russia, where we have significant research and development operations, and
the Philippines, where significant technical support, training and other professional services are performed, are uncertain and may afford little or no effective
protection of our proprietary technology, and the risk of intellectual property misappropriation may be higher in these countries. Consequently, we may be
unable to prevent our proprietary technology from being exploited abroad, which could affect our ability to expand into international markets or require
costly efforts to protect our technology.
In order to protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect these rights. Litigation
brought to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly, time consuming and distracting to management and could result in the
impairment or loss of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims
and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Accordingly, we may not be able to prevent third parties from
infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual property. Our failure to secure, protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could substantially
harm the value of our technology, solutions, brand and business.
We will likely continue to be subject to third-party intellectual property infringement claims.
There is considerable patent and other intellectual property development activity and litigation in our industry. Our success depends upon our not
infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others. Our competitors, as well as a number of other entities and individuals, may own or claim to own
intellectual property relating to our industry.
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From time to time, third parties have claimed that we are infringing upon their intellectual property rights. For example, on April 3, 2012, NobelBiz, Inc., or
NobelBiz, filed a patent infringement lawsuit against us alleging that our local caller ID management service infringes United States Patent No. 8135122.
Subsequently, NobelBiz amended its complaint to add claims related to U.S. Patent No. 8565399, which is a continuation in the same family as the prior
patent and addresses the same technology. NobelBiz seeks damages in the form of lost profits as well as injunctive relief. See Note 9 of the notes to
condensed consolidated financial statements under the heading “Legal Matters." If NobelBiz is successful in its request for injunctive relief, we will have to
stop providing the accused technology, enter into a license agreement with NobelBiz for the technology or modify our technology, any of which could harm
our business. There can be no assurance that we (i) will prevail in this action, (ii) can develop non-infringing technology that is accepted in the market if we
are enjoined from using the accused technology or (iii) will be able to negotiate favorable licensing terms with NobelBiz. There can also be no assurance that
other actions alleging infringement by us of third-party patents will not be asserted or prosecuted against us.
Certain technology necessary for us to provide our solution may be patented, copyrighted or otherwise protected by other parties either now or in the
future. In such case, we would have to negotiate a license for the use of that technology. We may not be able to negotiate such a license at a price that is
acceptable, or at all. The existence of such a patent, copyright or other protections, or our inability to negotiate a license for any such technology on
acceptable terms, could force us to cease using such technology and offering solutions incorporating such technology.
Others have claimed, or in the future may claim, that our solution and underlying technology infringe or violate their intellectual property rights.
However, we may be unaware of the intellectual property rights that others may claim cover some or all of our technology or solution. Any claims or
litigation could cause us to incur significant costs and expenses and, if successfully asserted against us, could require that we pay substantial damages or
ongoing royalty payments, require that we refrain from using, manufacturing or selling certain offerings or features or using certain processes, prevent us from
offering our solution or certain features thereof, or require that we comply with other unfavorable terms, any of which could harm our business and operating
results. We may also be obligated to indemnify our clients or business partners or pay substantial settlement costs, including royalty payments, in connection
with any such claim or litigation and to obtain licenses, modify applications, or refund fees, which could be costly. Even if we were to prevail in such a
dispute, any litigation regarding our intellectual property could be costly and time consuming and divert the attention of our management and key personnel
from our business operations.
We employ third-party licensed software for use in or with our solution, and the inability to maintain these licenses or errors in the software we license
could result in increased costs, or reduced service levels, which could harm our business.
Our solution incorporates certain third-party software obtained under licenses from other companies. We anticipate that we will continue to rely on
such software and development tools from third parties in the future. Although we believe that there are commercially reasonable alternatives to the thirdparty software we currently license, this may not be the case, or it may be difficult or costly to transition to other providers. In addition, integration of the
software used in our solution with new third-party software may require significant work and require substantial investment of our time and resources. To the
extent that our solution depends upon the successful operation of third-party software in conjunction with our software, any undetected errors or defects in
this third-party software could prevent the deployment or impair the functionality of our solution, delay new product or solution introductions, result in
increased costs, or a failure of our solution and injure our reputation. Our use of additional or alternative third-party software would require us to enter into
license agreements with third parties and to integrate such software to our solution.
There can be no assurance that the technology licensed by us will continue to provide competitive features and functionality or that licenses for
technology currently utilized by us or other technology that we may seek to license in the future, will be available to us at a reasonable cost or on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Third-party licensors may also be acquired or go out of business, which could preclude us from continuing to use
such technology. The loss of, or inability to maintain, existing licenses could result in lost product features and litigation. The loss in existing licenses could
also result in implementation delays or reductions until equivalent technology or suitable alternative solutions could be developed, identified, licensed and
integrated, and could increase our costs and harm our business.
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Our solution utilizes open source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of these open source licenses could negatively affect our
business.
Our solution includes software covered by open source licenses, which may include, for example, free general public use licenses, open source frontend libraries, open source stand-alone applications and open source applications. The terms of various open source licenses have not been interpreted by
United States courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability
to market our solution. By the terms of certain open source licenses, we could be required to release the source code of our proprietary software, and to make
our proprietary software available under open source licenses, if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner. In the
event that portions of our proprietary software are determined to be subject to an open source license, we could be required to publicly release the affected
portions of our source code, re-engineer all or a portion of our technologies, or otherwise be limited in the licensing of our technologies, each of which could
reduce or eliminate the value of our technologies and solutions. In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of open source software can lead to
greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of the
software. Given the nature of open source software, there is also a risk that third parties may assert copyright and other intellectual property infringement
claims against us based on our use of certain open source software programs. Many of the risks associated with the usage of open source software cannot be
eliminated, and could harm our business.
Risks Related to Regulatory Matters
Failure to comply with laws and regulations could harm our business and our reputation.
Our business is subject to regulation by various federal, state, local and foreign governmental agencies, including agencies responsible for monitoring
and enforcing employment and labor laws, workplace safety, environmental laws, consumer protection laws, anti-bribery laws, import/export controls, federal
securities laws and tax laws and regulations. In certain jurisdictions, these regulatory requirements may be more stringent than those in the United States and
in other circumstances these requirements may be more stringent in the United States. Noncompliance with applicable regulations or requirements could
subject us to investigations, sanctions, mandatory recalls, enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, fines, damages, civil and criminal penalties or
injunctions. If any governmental sanctions, fines or penalties are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible civil or criminal litigation, our business,
operating results, financial condition and our reputation could be harmed. In addition, responding to any action will likely result in a significant diversion of
management’s attention and resources and an increase in professional fees. Enforcement actions and sanctions could further harm our business, operating
results, financial condition and our reputation.
Alleged or actual failure to comply with the constantly evolving legal and contractual environment surrounding calling consumers and wireless phone
numbers by other companies or our competitors or governmental or private enforcement actions related thereto, could harm our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.
The legal and contractual environment surrounding calling consumers and wireless phone numbers is constantly evolving. In the United States, two
federal agencies, the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC and the FCC, and various states have laws including, at the federal level, the Telephone Consumer
Protection Act of 1991, or TCPA, that restrict the placing of certain telephone calls and texts to residential and wireless telephone subscribers by means of
automatic telephone dialing systems, prerecorded or artificial voice messages and fax machines. These laws require companies to institute processes and
safeguards to comply with these restrictions. Some of these laws, where a violation is established, can be enforced by the FTC, FCC, State Attorneys General,
or private party litigants. In these types of actions, the plaintiff may seek damages, statutory penalties, costs and/or attorneys’ fees.
We have designed our solution to comply with these laws. To the extent that our solution is viewed by clients or potential clients as less functional, or
more difficult to deploy or use, because of our solution’s compliance features, we may lose market share to competitors that do not include similar
compliance safeguards. Our contractual arrangements with our clients who use our solution to place calls also expressly require them to comply with all such
laws and to indemnify us for any failure to do so. We take reasonable steps to confirm such compliance. Even with these efforts, it is possible that the FTC,
FCC, private litigants or others may attempt to hold our clients, or us as a software provider, responsible for alleged violations of these laws. It also is possible
that we may not successfully enforce or collect upon our contractual indemnities from our clients. Additionally, these laws, and any changes to them or the
interpretation thereof, that further restrict calling consumers, including to wireless phone numbers, adverse publicity regarding the alleged or actual failure by
companies, including our clients and
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competitors, to comply with such laws or governmental or private enforcement actions related thereto, could result in a reduction in the use of our solution by
our clients and potential clients, which could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Increased taxes on our service may increase our clients’ cost of using our service and/or increase our costs and reduce our profit margins to the extent the
costs are not passed through to our clients, and we may be subject to liabilities for past sales and other taxes, surcharges and fees.
During 2011, we analyzed our activities and determined that we were obligated to collect sales taxes on sales of our subscription services in certain
U.S. states. Accordingly, we registered with those states and, in 2012, commenced paying past-due amounts and collecting sales taxes from our clients and
remitting such taxes to the applicable state taxing authorities. Prior to 2012, we did not collect or remit U.S. state or local sales, use, gross receipts, excise and
utility user taxes, fees or surcharges on our solution. During the first quarter of 2015, we conducted an updated review of the taxability of sales of our
subscription services and identified four additional U.S. states where we may be obligated to collect and remit sales taxes.
During 2013, we analyzed our activities and determined that we may be obligated to collect and remit sales, excise and utility user taxes, as well as
surcharges as a communications service provider, and pay gross receipts taxes, on our usage-based fees in certain U.S. states and municipalities. We neither
collected nor remitted state and local taxes or surcharges on usage-based fees in any of the periods prior to 2014. Based on our ongoing assessment of our
U.S. state and local tax collection and remittance obligations in respect of usage-based fees, in 2014, we registered for tax and regulatory purposes in all U.S.
states where we determined such registration is proper and commenced collecting and remitting applicable state and local taxes and surcharges on such fees.
We have accrued a contingent liability of $1.6 million for our best estimate of the probable amount of taxes and surcharges that may be imposed by
various states and municipalities on our activities, including our usage-based and subscription services, prior to registration. This contingent liability is
based on our analysis of a number of factors, including the source location of our usage-based fees, the taxability of our subscription services and the rules
and regulations in each state. The actual amount of state and local taxes and surcharges paid may differ from our estimates. See Note 9 of the notes to
condensed consolidated financial statements.
While we have accrued for these potential liabilities in each period, such accruals are based on analyses of our business activities, the operation of our
solution, applicable statutes, regulations and rules in each state and locality and estimates of sales subject to sales tax or other charges. State and local taxing
and regulatory authorities may challenge our position and may decide to audit our business and operations with respect to state or local sales, use, gross
receipts, excise and utility user taxes, fees or surcharges, which could result in our being liable for taxes, fees, or surcharges, as well as related penalties and
interest, above our recorded accrued liability or additional liability for taxes, fees, or surcharges, as well as penalties and interest for our clients, which could
harm our results of operations and our relationships with our clients. In addition, if our international sales grow, additional foreign countries may seek to
impose sales or other tax collection obligations on us, which would increase our exposure to liability.
The applicability of state or local taxes, fees or surcharges relative to services such as ours is complex, ambiguous and subject to interpretation and
change. If states enact new legislation or if taxing and regulatory authorities promulgate new rules or regulations or expand or otherwise alter their
interpretations of existing rules and regulations, we could incur additional liabilities. In addition, the collection of additional taxes, fees or surcharges in the
future could increase our prices or reduce our profit margins. Compliance with new or existing legislation, rules or regulations may also make us less
competitive with those competitors who are not subject to, or choose not to comply with, such legislation, rules or regulations. We have incurred, and will
continue to incur, substantial ongoing costs associated with complying with state or local tax, fee or surcharge requirements in the numerous markets in
which we conduct or will conduct business.
Our ability to offer services outside the U.S. is subject to different regulatory and taxation requirements, which may be complicated and uncertain.
As we continue to expand the sale and implementation of our solutions internationally, we will be subject to new regulations, taxes, surcharges and
fees. Compliance with these new complex regulatory requirements that differ from country to country and are frequently changing may impose substantial
compliance burdens on our business. At times, it may be difficult to determine which laws and regulations apply, we may discover that we are required to
comply with certain laws and regulations after having provided services for some time in that jurisdiction, which could subject us to retroactive taxes, fees
and penalties, and we may be subject to conflicting requirements. For example, prior to 2016, we had not collected taxes on our sales in Canada. During the
second quarter of 2015, we
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reviewed the taxability of our sales in Canada and determined that we were obligated to collect from our Canadian clients and remit to the Canadian federal
and certain provincial governments Value-added Taxes, or VAT, and/or Provincial Sales Taxes, or PST. We commenced collecting and remitting such taxes
in January 2016. Additionally, as we expand internationally, the risk that governments will regulate or impose new or increased taxes or fees on our services
increases. Any such additional regulation or taxes could decrease the value of our international expansion and harm our results of operations.
We are subject to assessments for unpaid USF contributions, as well as interest thereon and civil penalties, due to our late registration and past failure to
recognize our obligation as a USF contributor and as an international carrier.
During the third quarter of 2012, we determined that based on our business activities, we are classified as a telecommunications service provider for
regulatory purposes and we are required to make direct contributions to the USF based on revenue we receive from the resale of interstate and international
telecommunications services. In order to comply with the obligation to make direct contributions, in November 2012, we made a voluntary self-disclosure to
the FCC Enforcement Bureau and have registered with the USAC which is charged by the FCC with administering the USF. In April 2013, we began remitting
required contributions on a prospective basis directly to USAC.
Our registration with USAC subjects us to assessments for unpaid USF contributions, as well as interest thereon and civil penalties, due to our late
registration and past failure to recognize our obligation as a USF contributor and as an international carrier. We are required to pay assessments for periods
prior to our registration. As of December 31, 2012, our total past due USF contribution being imposed by USAC and accrued by us for the period from 2003
through 2012 was $8.1 million, of which $4.7 million was undisputed and $3.4 million was disputed. We subsequently updated our filings and increased the
liability related to 2008 through 2012 by $0.5 million, arriving at a new total of $3.9 million in disputed liability. As of September 30, 2017, we had fully
paid the promissory note issued to USAC for the undisputed portion. In January 2017, the FCC ruled in our favor with respect to most of the disputed amount.
In September 2017, USAC issued a credit to us reflecting the FCC's ruling for the $3.1 million of the $3.9 million in disputed liability. In addition, USAC
reversed the interest and penalties related to the disputed liability of $3.1 million. The remaining $0.8 million in dispute involves USAC’s assessment of
liability for the period of 2003 through 2007, which was prior to the five year window during which we were required to maintain financial records for USF
contribution purposes. In 2013, we filed a Request for Review (a form of appeal) of this disputed amount with the FCC, which remains pending. If the
Request for Review is not resolved in our favor, it is possible that we will be held to the back assessments of $0.8 million, which includes interest and
penalties on that amount.
In 2012, we also determined that we were a provider of international telecommunications services and therefore we were required to secure from the
FCC a section 214 international carrier authorization permitting such international telecommunications. We applied with the FCC for international carrier
authority, which was granted on June 9, 2015.
On June 12, 2015, in connection with our late registration with the USAC and past failure to recognize our obligation as a USF contributor and as an
international carrier from 2003 to 2012, we entered into a consent decree with the FCC Enforcement Bureau. In the consent decree, we agreed to pay a civil
penalty of $2.0 million to the U.S. Treasury in twelve equal quarterly installments starting in July 2015 without interest. In the third quarter of 2014, we had
accrued a $2.0 million liability for the then tentative civil penalty, of which $0.5 million in principal remained outstanding as of September 30, 2017. The
consent decree also requires us to adopt certain internal regulatory compliance monitoring and training requirements, and to report on the status of those
compliance efforts to the FCC’s Enforcement Bureau during a period of three years. Our implementation of the internal regulatory compliance monitoring
and training requirements were completed in August 2015, and the annual compliance reporting to the FCC will continue until June 2018. To the extent that
we do not comply with these obligations, we could be subject to further enforcement action, including fines and penalties, by the FCC. See Note 9 of the
notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
Our ongoing obligations to pay federal, state and local telecommunications contributions and taxes may decrease our price advantage over our
competitors who have historically paid these contributions and taxes and could also make us less competitive with those competitors who are not subject to,
or choose not to comply with, those requirements. In addition, if we are unable to continue to pass some or all of the cost of these contributions and taxes to
our clients, our profit margins on the minutes we resell will decrease. Our federal contributions and tax
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obligations may significantly increase in the future, due to new interpretations by governing authorities, governmental budget pressures, changes in our
business model or solutions or other factors.
If we do not comply with FCC rules and regulations, we could be subject to further FCC enforcement actions, fines, loss of licenses and possibly
restrictions on our ability to operate or offer certain of our services.
Since our business is regulated by the FCC, we are subject to existing or potential FCC regulations relating to privacy, disability access, porting of
numbers, USF contributions and other requirements. If we do not comply with FCC rules and regulations, we could be subject to further FCC enforcement
actions, fines, loss of licenses and possibly restrictions on our ability to operate or offer certain of our services. Any further enforcement action by the FCC,
which may be a public process, would hurt our reputation in the industry, possibly impair our ability to sell our services to clients and could harm our
business and results of operations.
•
•
•
•
•

The regulations to which we are subject (in whole or in part) include:
the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act, or CALEA, which requires covered entities to assist law enforcement in undertaking
electronic surveillance;
contributions to the USF, which requires that we pay a percentage of our revenues resulting from the provision of interstate telecommunications
services to support certain federal programs;
payment of annual FCC regulatory fees based on our interstate and international revenues;
rules pertaining to access to our services by people with disabilities and contributions to the Telecommunications Relay Services fund; and
FCC rules regarding Customer Proprietary Network Information, or CPNI, which prohibit us from using such information without client approval,
subject to certain exceptions.

If we do not comply with any current or future rules or regulations that apply to our business, we could be subject to additional and substantial fines
and penalties, we may have to restructure our service offerings, exit certain markets, accept lower margins or raise the price of our services, any of which could
harm our business and results of operations.
Reform of federal and state USF programs could increase the cost of our service to our clients, diminishing or eliminating our pricing advantage.
The FCC and a number of states are considering reform or other modifications to USF programs. The way we calculate our contribution may change if
the FCC or certain states engage in reform or adopt other modifications. In April 2012, the FCC released a Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking to consider
reforms to the manner in which companies like us contribute to the federal USF program. In general, the Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking is
considering questions like: what companies should contribute, how contributions should be assessed, and methods to improve the administration of the
system. We cannot predict the outcome of this proceeding nor its impact on our business at this time. The changes in the leadership of the U.S. Government
resulting from the federal election in 2016 may renew interest in completing this proceeding.
Should the FCC or certain states adopt new contribution mechanisms or otherwise modify contribution obligations that increase our contribution
burden, we will either need to raise the amount we currently collect from our clients to cover this obligation or absorb the costs, which would reduce our
profit margins. Furthermore, the FCC has ruled that states can require us to contribute to state USF programs. A number of states already require us to
contribute, while others are actively considering extending their programs to include the solution we provide. Currently our USF contributions are borne by
our clients, which could result in our solution becoming less competitive as compared to products provided by our competitors.
Privacy concerns and domestic or foreign laws and regulations may reduce the demand for our solution, increase our costs and harm our business.
Our clients can use our solution to collect, use and store information, including personally identifiable information or other information treated as
confidential, regarding their customers and potential customers. Federal, state and foreign government bodies and agencies have adopted, are considering
adopting, or may adopt laws and regulations regarding the collection, use, storage and disclosure of such information obtained from consumers and
individuals. The costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by, such laws and regulations that are applicable to us and the businesses of our clients
may limit the use and adoption of our solution and reduce overall demand, or lead to significant fines, penalties or other regulatory liabilities such as orders
or consent decrees forcing
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us to modify our business practices, as well as reputational damage or third-party lawsuits for any noncompliance with such privacy laws. Furthermore,
privacy concerns may cause consumers to resist providing the personal data necessary to allow our clients to use our solution effectively. Even the perception
of privacy concerns, whether or not valid, may inhibit market adoption of our solution in certain industries or countries.
Domestic and international legislative and regulatory initiatives may harm our clients’ ability to process, handle, store, use and transmit information,
including demographic and personally identifiable information or other information treated as confidential, regarding their customers, which could reduce
demand for our solution. These laws and regulations are still evolving and are likely to be in flux and subject to uncertain interpretation for the foreseeable
future. Our business could be harmed if legislation or regulations are adopted, interpreted or implemented in a manner that is inconsistent from country to
country and inconsistent with our current policies and practices, or those of our clients. In addition, foreign data protection, privacy, and consumer protection
laws and regulations are often more stringent than those in the United States. In particular, the European Union and its member states traditionally have
imposed greater legal obligations on companies that collect and process personal data.
In October 2015, the Court of Justice for the European Union invalidated the EU-US Safe Harbor program, or the Safe Harbor. The Safe Harbor
provided participating U.S. companies with a legal basis to comply with EU data transfer regulations that would otherwise restrict the transfer of personal data
by our clients from the European Union to us in the United States. Some of our clients relied on the Safe Harbor to transfer the personal data of their customers
located in the EU to the United States. Other clients relied on legally recognized alternative mechanisms such as standard contractual clauses issued by the
European Commission (commonly referred to as “model contracts”) or binding corporate resolutions to make such transfers. We relied on the use of standard
contractual clauses issued by the European Commission before the invalidation of the Safe Harbor Program in October 2015, and we continue to do so
currently. In July 2016, EU and U.S. regulators announced the approval of a new trans-Atlantic Agreement, the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield, which succeeds the
Safe Harbor Program. Companies interested in self-certifying compliance with this new trans-Atlantic data-transfer framework could do so beginning in
August 2016, when the U.S. Department of Commerce began accepting certifications. The self-certification process under the Privacy Shield is similar to the
Safe Harbor program. However, the compliance requirements under the Privacy Shield are generally more stringent than under the Safe Harbor.
Other methods for transferring personal data across the Atlantic are also facing legal scrutiny. In May 2016, the Irish Data Protection Commissioner
announced its intention to seek declaratory relief in the Irish High Court and a referral to the European Court of Justice, or the ECJ, to determine the legal
status of data transfers under standard contractual clauses. An adverse decision from the ECJ will impact how either we or our clients transfer personal data
out of the European Union. Further uncertainty exists with regard to data transfers in relation to the United Kingdom due to the recent referendum in which
voters in the UK decided to withdraw from the European Union. Finally, the EU recently adopted the General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, which is
the most comprehensive reform of data protection law in the EU’s history. The GDPR, which is expected to be effective in May 2018, will significantly
update and modify European data protection law, including extending its application to a wider range of non-EU entities, harmonizing data protection rules
across EU member states, giving data subjects important new rights, and significantly increasing penalties for non-compliance.
Any of these developments, and the cost of compliance, could harm our operations and financial results. Moreover, any non-compliance, or perceived
non-compliance, with these obligations, could result in investigations or enforcement actions by applicable regulators, lawsuits by private parties, changes to
our business practices, increased cost of operations, or declines in client growth, or may otherwise harm our business.
In addition to government activity, privacy advocacy groups and the technology and other industries are considering various new, additional or
different self-regulatory standards that may place additional burdens on us. If the processing of information were to be curtailed in this manner, our solution
may be less attractive, which may reduce demand for our solution and harm our business.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
Our stock price has been volatile, may continue to be volatile and may decline, including due to factors beyond our control.
The market price of our common stock has been volatile in the past and may fluctuate significantly in the future in response to numerous factors, many
of which are beyond our control. During the nine months ended
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September 30, 2017, the sale price per share of our common stock ranged from a low of $14.00 to a high of $24.80. Factors that may contribute to continuing
volatility in the price of our common stock include:
• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;
• the financial projections we provide to the public, any changes in these projections or our failure to meet these projections;
• failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of our company, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow
our company, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;
• ratings changes by any securities analysts who follow our company;
• sales of our common stock by us or our significant stockholders, or the public announcement of same;
• the assessment of our business or position in our market published in research and other reports;
• announcements by us or our competitors of significant technical innovations, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital
commitments;
• changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology companies generally, or those in the software as a service
industry in particular;
• price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market, including as a result of trends in the U.S. or global economy;
• any major change in our board of directors or management;
• lawsuits threatened or filed against us;
• security breaches or incidents impacting our clients or their customers;
• legislation or regulation of our business, the internet and/or contact centers;
• loss of key personnel;
• new entrants into the contact center market, including the transition by providers of legacy on-premise contact center systems to cloud solutions, as
well as cable and incumbent telephone companies and other well-capitalized competitors;
• new products or new sales by us or our competitors;
• the perceived or real impact of events that harm our direct competitors;
• developments with respect to patents or proprietary rights;
• general market conditions;
• distributions to limited partners, or block sales, by original venture capital investors; and
• other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism or responses to these events, which could be unrelated to, or outside
of, our control.
In addition, stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity
securities of many technology companies. Stock prices of many technology companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of those companies. These and other factors may disproportionately impact the trading price of our common stock. In the past,
stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation following periods of market volatility. If we were to become involved in securities litigation, it
could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our business and harm our business, results of operations,
financial condition, reputation and cash flows.
If securities or industry analysts discontinue publishing research or reports about our business, or publish negative reports about our business, our share
price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our
business, our market and our competitors. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our shares
or change their opinion of our shares, our share price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly
publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
57

Table of Contents
Substantial future sales of shares of our common stock could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
The market price of shares of our common stock could decline as a result of substantial sales of our common stock, particularly sales by our directors,
executive officers and significant stockholders and persons to whom our shares are distributed by our significant stockholders or the perception in the market
that holders of a large number of shares intend to sell their shares.
Certain holders of our outstanding common stock have rights, subject to certain conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their
shares or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or our stockholders. The filing of a registration statement for these
shares may cause our stock price to decline, even before such shares are actually sold in the market. We have also registered shares of common stock that we
may issue under our employee equity incentive plans. These shares can be sold freely in the public market upon issuance.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company more difficult, limit attempts by
our stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit the market price of our common stock.
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a
change in control or changes in our management. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws:
• provide that our board of directors is classified into three classes of directors;
• provide that stockholders may remove directors only for cause and only with the approval of holders of at least 66 2 ⁄3 % of our then outstanding
capital stock;
• provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of the board of directors;
• provide that all vacancies, including newly created directorships, may, except as otherwise required by law, be filled by the affirmative vote of a
majority of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum;
• provide that our stockholders may not take action by written consent, and may only take action at annual or special meetings of our stockholders;
• provide that stockholders seeking to present proposals before a meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as directors at a
meeting of stockholders must provide notice in writing in a timely manner, and also specify requirements as to the form and content of a
stockholder’s notice;
• restrict the forum for certain litigation against us to Delaware;
• do not provide for cumulative voting rights (therefore allowing the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any
election of directors to elect all of the directors standing for election);
• provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the chairman of the board, our chief executive officer or the board of
directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of authorized directors; and
• provide that stockholders will be permitted to amend our amended and restated bylaws only upon receiving at least 66 2 / 3 % of the votes entitled to
be cast by holders of all outstanding shares then entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.
These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult
for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, because we
are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a
Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a period of three years following
the date on which the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder.
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Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the sole and exclusive forum for
substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes
with us or our directors, officers or employees.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of
the State of Delaware is the sole and exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any action asserting a claim of
breach of fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or to our stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim arising
pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law or (4) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. The choice of forum provision
may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees,
which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum
provision contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs
associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.
We have never paid cash dividends and do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings and do not expect to pay
any dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to declare cash dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to
applicable laws, and will depend on a number of factors, including our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, contractual
restrictions, general business conditions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. In addition, our New Revolving Credit Facility
prohibits us and our subsidiaries from, among other things, paying any dividends or making any other distribution or payment on account of our common
stock. Accordingly, holders of our common stock must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way
to realize any future gains on their investments.
ITEM 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.

ITEM 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

ITEM 5. Other Information
None.

59

Table of Contents
ITEM 6. Exhibits
Exhibit
Number

31.1*
31.2*
32.1**
101.INS*
101.SCH*
101.CAL*
101.DEF*
101.LAB*
101.PRE*

Description

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Five9, Inc. Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Five9, Inc. Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Five9, Inc. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
Five9, Inc.
Date:

November 8, 2017

By:

/s/ Michael Burkland
Michael Burkland
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Duly Authorized Officer)

Date:

November 8, 2017

By:

/s/ Barry Zwarenstein
Barry Zwarenstein
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Michael Burkland, certify that:
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Five9, Inc. for the quarter ended September 30, 2017;
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date:

November 8, 2017

By:

/s/ Michael Burkland
Michael Burkland
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Barry Zwarenstein, certify that:
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Five9, Inc. for the quarter ended September 30, 2017;
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date:

November 8, 2017

By:

/s/ Barry Zwarenstein
Barry Zwarenstein
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Michael Burkland, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Quarterly Report of Five9, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2017 fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents in all
material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date:

November 8, 2017

By:

/s/ Michael Burkland
Michael Burkland
Chief Executive Officer and President

I, Barry Zwarenstein, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Quarterly Report of Five9, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2017 fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents in all
material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date:

November 8, 2017

By:

/s/ Barry Zwarenstein
Barry Zwarenstein
Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of Five9, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

